

ADOPTED: 22 November 2016 doi: 10.2903/j.efsa.2016.4653

### **Dietary reference values for thiamin**

EFSA Panel on Dietetic Products, Nutrition and Allergies (NDA), Dominique Turck, Jean-Louis Bresson, Barbara Burlingame, Tara Dean, Susan Fairweather-Tait, Marina Heinonen, Karen Ildico Hirsch-Ernst, Inge Mangelsdorf, Harry J McArdle, Androniki Naska, Grażyna Nowicka, Kristina Pentieva, Yolanda Sanz, Alfonso Siani, Anders Sjödin, Martin Stern, Daniel Tomé, Henk Van Loveren, Marco Vinceti, Peter Willatts, Christel Lamberg-Allardt, Hildegard Przyrembel, Inge Tetens, Jelena Gudelj Rakic, Sofia Ioannidou, Agnès de Sesmaisons-Lecarré, Annette Cecilia Forss and Monika Neuhäuser-Berthold

#### Abstract

Following a request from the European Commission, the EFSA Panel on Dietetic Products, Nutrition and Allergies (NDA) derived dietary reference values (DRVs) for thiamin (vitamin B1). The Panel considers that data from depletion-repletion studies in adults on the amount of dietary thiamin intake associated with the erythrocyte transketolase activity coefficient ( $\alpha$ ETK) < 1.15, generally considered to reflect an adequate thiamin status, or with the restoration of normal (baseline) erythrocyte transketolase activity, without a sharp increase in urinary thiamin excretion, can be used to estimate thiamin requirement. In the absence of new scientific evidence, the Panel endorses the average requirement (AR) of 0.072 mg/MJ (0.3 mg/1,000 kcal) for all adults proposed by the Scientific Committee for Food (SCF) in 1993 on the basis of one depletion–repletion study, in which both  $\alpha$ ETK and urinary thiamin excretion were measured. Results from other depletion-repletion studies are in agreement with this value. The Panel agrees on the coefficient of variation of 20% used by the SCF to cover uncertainties related to distribution of thiamin requirements in the general population, and endorses the population reference intake (PRI) of 0.1 mg/MJ (0.4 mg/1,000 kcal) set by the SCF for all adults. The same AR and PRI as for adults, expressed in mg/MJ, are proposed for infants aged 7–11 months, children aged 1 to < 18 years, and during pregnancy and lactation, under the assumption that the relationship between thiamin requirement and energy requirement is the same in all population groups.

© 2016 European Food Safety Authority. *EFSA Journal* published by John Wiley and Sons Ltd on behalf of European Food Safety Authority.

**Keywords:** thiamin, average requirement, population reference intake, dietary reference value

Requestor: European Commission

Question number: EFSA-Q-2011-01225

Correspondence: nda@efsa.europa.eu



**Panel members:** Jean-Louis Bresson, Barbara Burlingame, Tara Dean, Susan Fairweather-Tait, Marina Heinonen, Karen-Ildico Hirsch-Ernst, Inge Mangelsdorf, Harry J McArdle, Androniki Naska, Monika Neuhäuser-Berthold, Grażyna Nowicka, Kristina Pentieva, Yolanda Sanz, Alfonso Siani, Anders Sjödin, Martin Stern, Daniel Tomé, Dominique Turck, Henk Van Loveren, Marco Vinceti and Peter Willatts.

**Acknowledgements:** The Panel wishes to thank EFSA member of staff Fanny Héraud for the support provided to this scientific opinion.

**Suggested citation**: EFSA NDA Panel (EFSA Panel on Dietetic Products, Nutrition and Allergies), Turck D, Bresson J-L, Burlingame B, Dean T, Fairweather-Tait S, Heinonen M, Hirsch-Ernst KI, Mangelsdorf I, McArdle HJ, Naska A, Nowicka G, Pentieva K, Sanz Y, Siani A, Sjödin A, Stern M, Tomé D, Van Loveren H, Vinceti M, Willatts P, Lamberg-Allardt C, Przyrembel H, Tetens I, Gudelj Rakic J, Ioannidou S, de Sesmaisons-Lecarré A, Forss AC and Neuhäuser-Berthold M, 2016. Scientific opinion on dietary reference values for thiamin. EFSA Journal 2016;14(12):4653, 53 pp. doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2016. 4653

#### **ISSN:** 1831-4732

© 2016 European Food Safety Authority. *EFSA Journal* published by John Wiley and Sons Ltd on behalf of European Food Safety Authority.

This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NoDerivs License, which permits use and distribution in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited and no modifications or adaptations are made.



The EFSA Journal is a publication of the European Food Safety Authority, an agency of the European Union.





#### Summary

Following a request from the European Commission, the EFSA Panel on Dietetic Products, Nutrition and Allergies (NDA) was asked to deliver a Scientific Opinion on Dietary Reference Values for the European population, including thiamin (vitamin B1).

Thiamin is a water-soluble vitamin composed of a thiazole and a pyrimidine ring linked by a methylene group. In human tissues, thiamin occurs mostly in phosphorylated forms as thiamin monophosphate (TMP), thiamin diphosphate (TDP, called also thiamin pyrophosphate), thiamin triphosphate (TTP), as well as its non-phosphorylated form ('free thiamin'). Free thiamin functions as the precursor for TDP, which acts as a coenzyme for enzymes involved in carbohydrate and branched-chain amino acid metabolism, and in energy-yielding reactions. Thiamin deficiency leads to disorders that include several forms of beriberi, with mostly neurological and cardiovascular manifestations.

Thiamin in food exists mainly in phosphorylated forms in animal products, and in free form in foods of plant origin. Upon ingestion, thiamin phosphate esters are hydrolysed in the intestinal lumen by phosphatases. Free thiamin is taken up through the mucosal membrane by a specific saturable transport system. In healthy subjects, thiamin absorption is above 95% at usual intakes. Alcohol and anti-thiamin factors (such as some phenolic compounds, sulfites and thiaminases) can reduce thiamin bioavailability. Thiamin in blood is mainly found in erythrocytes (> 80% of total thiamin in the blood) in the form of TDP and TTP, while low amounts of the vitamin are present in plasma, as free thiamin, TMP and protein-bound TDP. Thiamin in the body is mostly located in the skeletal muscles, heart, brain, liver and kidneys.

Urine is the main route of thiamin excretion, mainly in the form of free thiamin and thiamin metabolites. The Panel notes that 24-h urinary thiamin excretion is related to thiamin intake, particularly to short-term intakes, in thiamin-replete individuals. However, the thiamin intake cannot reliably be estimated from the urinary excretion of the vitamin. The determination of 24-h urinary thiamin excretion is not a reliable marker of thiamin body stores and cannot, on its own, be used as a biomarker of the thiamin status of individuals. Still, in experimental studies where 24-h urinary thiamin excretion is assessed in response to various intakes of the vitamin, a sharp increase in thiamin excretion is considered to be indicative of the saturation of the thiamin body stores.

Measurement of the erythrocyte transketolase activity (ETKA), a TDP-requiring enzyme, is a functional test of thiamin status. The erythrocyte transketolase activity coefficient ( $\alpha$ ETK, also called 'TDP effect') represents the degree to which ETKA rises in response to addition of TDP. This test can discriminate low ETKA due to thiamin deficiency from a lack of the apoenzyme. A value of  $\alpha$ ETK < 1.15 is generally considered to reflect an adequate thiamin status. The concentrations of total thiamin (free thiamin and its phosphate esters) in whole blood, serum and erythrocytes have also been investigated as biomarkers of thiamin status. Erythrocyte TDP concentration was found to have similar performance as the erythrocyte transketolase activation assay for assessment of thiamin status. The Panel notes, however, the lack of established cut-offs for these biomarkers.

The Panel considers that data from depletion–repletion studies in adults on the amount of dietary thiamin intake associated with  $\alpha$ ETK < 1.15 or with the restoration of normal (baseline) ETKA, without a sharp increase in urinary thiamin excretion, can be used to estimate thiamin requirement. In the absence of new scientific evidence, the Panel endorses the average requirement (AR) of 0.072 mg/MJ (0.3 mg/1,000 kcal) for all adults set by the Scientific Committee for Food (SCF) in 1993 on the basis of one depletion–repletion study in seven healthy males, in which both  $\alpha$ ETK and urinary excretion of thiamin were measured. Results from other depletion–repletion studies are in agreement with this value. The Panel notes that the AR was based on data on a small number of men, and agrees on the coefficient of variation of 20% used by the SCF to cover uncertainties related to distribution of thiamin requirements in the general population. The Panel endorses the population reference intake (PRI) of 0.1 mg/MJ (0.4 mg/1,000 kcal) set by the SCF for all adults. No new evidence has become available that the relationship between thiamin requirement and energy requirement differs between men and women, or between younger and older adults.

The Panel proposes the same AR and PRI as for adults, expressed in mg/MJ, for infants aged 7–11 months, children aged 1 to < 18 years old, and during pregnancy and lactation, under the assumption that the relationship between thiamin requirement and energy requirement is the same in all population groups.

Based on data from 13 dietary surveys in nine countries of the European Union, average thiamin intakes across countries ranged between 0.31 and 0.65 mg/day (0.11-0.21 mg/MJ) among infants (< 1 year old), between 0.58 and 0.98 mg/day (0.12-0.21 mg/MJ) among children aged 1 to < 3 years



old, between 0.68 and 1.29 mg/day (0.10–0.21 mg/MJ) among children aged 3 to < 10 years old, between 0.93 and 1.92 mg/day (0.11–0.20 mg/MJ) among children aged 10 to < 18 years old and between 0.88 and 1.99 mg/day (0.11–0.24 mg/MJ) among adults ( $\geq$  18 years old).



#### **Table of contents**

Abstract		1
Summa	ry	3
Backgro	und as provided by the European Commission	7
Terms o	f reference as provided by the European Commission	7
Assessm	nent	8
1.	Introduction	8
2.	Definition/category	8
2.1.	Chemistry	8
2.2.	Function of the nutrient	9
2.2.1.	Biochemical functions	9
2.2.2.	Health consequences of deficiency and excess.	9
2.2.2.1.	Deficiency	9
2.2.2.2.	Excess	9
2.3.	Physiology and metabolism	10
2.3.1.	Intestinal absorption and bioavailability.	10
2.3.2.	Transport in blood	10
2.3.3	Distribution to and content in tissues	11
2.3.4	Metabolism	11
235	Flimination	11
2351	lirine	11
2352	Faeres	11
2353	Sweat	12
2354	Breast milk	12
2.3.3.1.	Interaction with other nutrients	12
2.3.0.	Energy intake and expenditure	12
2.3.7.	Riomarkers of intake and status	12
2.7.	Whole bleed sorum and on through this min concentrations	12
2.4.1.	Enthropyte translatelase activity (ETKA) and anthropyte translatelase activity coefficient (vETK)	1/
2.4.2.	Elythocyte transketolase activity (ETKA) and elythocyte transketolase activity coefficient (aETK)	14
2.4.3.	Effects of genetypes	10
2.5.	Dieters of genotypes	10
3.	Dietary sources and intake data	16
3.1.	Dietary sources	10
3.2.	Dietary intake	1/
4.	Overview of dietary reference values and recommendations	18
4.1.	Adults	18
4.2.	Infants and children	20
4.3.	Pregnancy and lactation	21
5.	Criteria (endpoints) on which to base dietary reference values	23
5.1.	Indicators of thiamin requirement	23
5.1.1.	Depletion-repletion studies	23
5.1.2.	Observational studies	25
5.1.3.	Conclusions on indicators of thiamin requirements in adults	25
5.1.4.	Infants and children	26
5.1.5.	Pregnant and lactating women	26
5.2.	Thiamin intake and health consequences	27
5.3.	Data on which to base dietary reference values	27
5.4.	Adults	27
5.5.	Infants	28
5.6.	Children	28
5.7.	Pregnancy	28
5.8.	Lactation	28
Conclus	ions	28
Recomn	nendations for research	29
Referen	ces	29
Abbrevia	ations	38
Appendi	ix A – Concentrations of thiamin in breast milk from mothers of term infants in Western countries	40
Appendi	ix B – Dietary surveys in the EFSA Comprehensive European Food Consumption Database included in	-
EFSA's r	nutrient intake calculation for thiamin	42



Appendix C – Thiamin intakes (mg/day and mg/MJ) in males in different surveys, estimated by EFSA according to age class and country	43
Appendix D – Thiamin intakes (mg/day and mg/MJ) in females in different surveys, estimated by EFSA according to age class and country	45
Appendix E – Minimum and maximum percentage contribution of different food groups (FoodEx2 level 1) to thiamin intake estimates among males	47
Appendix F – Minimum and maximum percentage contribution of different food groups (FoodEx2 level 1) to thiamin intake estimates among females	48
Appendix G – Comparison between EFSA intake estimates and published estimates from the same survey Appendix H – Summary of population reference intakes (PRIs) for thiamin for adults expressed in mg/day Appendix I – Summary of population reference intakes (PRIs) for thiamin for infants aged 7–11 months	49 50
expressed in mg/day	51
Appendix J – Summary of population reference intakes (PRIs) for thiamin for children and adolescents expressed in mg/day	52
Appendix K – Summary of population reference intakes (PRIs) for thiamin for pregnant and lactating women (in addition to the PRI for non-pregnant non-lactating women) expressed in mg/day	53



#### Background as provided by the European Commission

The scientific advice on nutrient intakes is important as the basis of Community action in the field of nutrition, for example, such advice has in the past been used as the basis of nutrition labelling. The Scientific Committee for Food (SCF) report on nutrient and energy intakes for the European Community dates from 1993. There is a need to review and if necessary to update these earlier recommendations to ensure that the Community action in the area of nutrition is underpinned by the latest scientific advice.

In 1993, the SCF adopted an opinion on the nutrient and energy intakes for the European Community.<sup>1</sup> The report provided reference intakes for energy, certain macronutrients and micronutrients, but it did not include certain substances of physiological importance, for example, dietary fibre.

Since then new scientific data have become available for some of the nutrients, and scientific advisory bodies in many European Union (EU) Member States and in the United States have reported on recommended dietary intakes. For a number of nutrients, these newly established (national) recommendations differ from the reference intakes in the SCF (1993) report. Although there is considerable consensus between these newly derived (national) recommendations, differing opinions remain on some of the recommendations. Therefore, there is a need to review the existing EU Reference Intakes in the light of new scientific evidence, and taking into account the more recently reported national recommendations. There is also a need to include dietary components that were not covered in the SCF opinion of 1993, such as dietary fibre, and to consider whether it might be appropriate to establish reference intakes for other (essential) substances with a physiological effect.

In this context, the European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) is requested to consider the existing population reference intakes (PRIs) for energy, micro- and macronutrients and certain other dietary components, to review and complete the SCF recommendations, in the light of new evidence, and in addition advise on a PRI for dietary fibre.

For communication of nutrition and healthy eating messages to the public, it is generally more appropriate to express recommendations for the intake of individual nutrients or substances in foodbased terms. In this context, EFSA is asked to provide assistance on the translation of nutrient-based recommendations for a healthy diet into food-based recommendations intended for the population as a whole.

#### Terms of reference as provided by the European Commission

In accordance with Article 29(1)(a) and Article 31 of Regulation (EC) No 178/2002<sup>2</sup>, the Commission requests EFSA to review the existing advice of the SCF on PRIs for energy, nutrients and other substances with a nutritional or physiological effect in the context of a balanced diet which, when part of an overall healthy lifestyle, contribute to good health through optimal nutrition.

In the first instance, the EFSA is asked to provide advice on energy, macronutrients and dietary fibre. Specifically, advice is requested on the following dietary components:

- carbohydrates, including sugars;
- fats, including saturated fatty acids, polyunsaturated fatty acids and monounsaturated fatty acids, *trans* fatty acids;
- protein;
- dietary fibre.

Following on from the first part of the task, the EFSA is asked to advise on PRIs of micronutrients in the diet and, if considered appropriate, other essential substances with a nutritional or physiological effect in the context of a balanced diet which, when part of an overall healthy lifestyle, contribute to good health through optimal nutrition.

Finally, the EFSA is asked to provide guidance on the translation of nutrient-based dietary advice into guidance, intended for the European population as a whole, on the contribution of different foods or categories of foods to an overall diet that would help to maintain good health through optimal nutrition (food-based dietary guidelines).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Scientific Committee for Food, Nutrient and energy intakes for the European Community, Reports of the Scientific Committee for Food 31st series, Office for Official Publication of the European Communities, Luxembourg, 1993.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Regulation (EC) No 178/2002 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 28 January 2002 laying down the general principles and requirements of food law, establishing the European Food Safety Authority and laying down procedures in matters of food safety. OJ L 31, 1.2.2002, p. 1–24.



#### Assessment

#### **1.** Introduction

In 1993, the SCF adopted an opinion on the nutrient and energy intakes for the European Community (SCF, 1993). The SCF set an average requirement (AR) and a PRI for thiamin, expressed in  $\mu$ g/MJ, which applied to all age and sex groups. PRIs expressed in mg/day were also derived, considering the average energy requirements of infants, children, adults, and pregnant and lactating women. A lower threshold intake (LTI) expressed in  $\mu$ g/MJ was set for all age and sex groups, and converted to mg/day for adults, again using the values for average daily energy requirements for men and women.

#### 2. Definition/category

#### 2.1. Chemistry

Thiamin, also called vitamin B1 or aneurine, is a water-soluble vitamin. Thiamin is chemically defined as 3-[(4-amino-2-methyl-5-pyrimidinyl) methyl]-5-(2-hydroxyethyl)-4-methyl-1,3-thiazol-3-ium, with molecular formula C<sub>12</sub>H<sub>17</sub>N<sub>4</sub>OS and a molecular mass of 265.35 Da. Thiamin is composed of a thiazole and a pyrimidine ring linked by a methylene group.



Thiamin diphosphate

#### **Figure 1:** The thiamin and thiamin diphosphate molecules

In human tissues, thiamin occurs mostly in phosphorylated forms as thiamin monophosphate (TMP), thiamin diphosphate (TDP, called also thiamin pyrophosphate) (Figure 1), thiamin triphosphate (TTP), as well as its non-phosphorylated form ('free thiamin'). Adenosine thiamin triphosphate (ATTP) is also found in some tissues (Gangolf et al., 2010) (Section 2.3.3).

There are different methods of measurement of thiamin content in foods and biological samples (urine, blood and other tissues), such as high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) followed by fluorescence or ultraviolet detection, fluorimetry and microbiological assay (Icke and Nicol, 1994; Lynch and Young, 2000; Talwar et al., 2000; Mickelsen and Yamamoto, 2006). Techniques based on fluorimetric detection involve the oxidation of thiamin into thiochrome (Fayol, 1997). These methods showed comparable performance in foods (Hollman et al., 1993). The analytical procedure may comprise a step of enzymatic hydrolysis of phosphorylated thiamin, allowing the quantification of total thiamin content. The amounts of the respective forms of thiamin (i.e. free thiamin and its phosphate esters) can be determined after separation by HPLC (Gangolf et al., 2010).



#### **2.2.** Function of the nutrient

#### **2.2.1.** Biochemical functions

Free thiamin functions as the precursor for TDP, which acts as a coenzyme for enzymes involved in carbohydrate and branched-chain amino acid metabolism, and in energy-yielding reactions. TDP is needed for the activity of pyruvate dehydrogenase responsible for the conversion of pyruvate to acetyl-coenzyme A,  $\alpha$ -ketoglutarate dehydrogenase converting  $\alpha$ -ketoglutarate to succinyl-coenzyme A within the Krebs cycle, and branched-chain  $\alpha$ -keto acid dehydrogenase involved in the oxidation of the  $\alpha$ -keto acids from branched-chain amino acids. These enzyme complexes play a key role in processes related to mitochondrial energy metabolism. TDP is also the coenzyme for transketolase in the pentose phosphate pathway, which is essential for the generation of pentoses and nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH) (Singleton and Martin, 2001; Combs, 2008; Lonsdale, 2012; Manzetti et al., 2014). TDP is required for the function of the brain and nervous system as acetyl-coenzyme A and  $\alpha$ -ketoglutarate are involved in the production of the neurotransmitters acetylcholine and gamma-aminobutyric acid.

TDP may be further phosphorylated to TTP. TTP is able to phosphorylate proteins and to activate large conductance anion channels as, e.g. a chloride channel in nerves (Bettendorff et al., 1993; Nghiem et al., 2000; Bettendorff and Wins, 2009). The precise physiological role of TTP has not yet been elucidated (Bettendorff et al., 2014).

#### 2.2.2. Health consequences of deficiency and excess

#### 2.2.2.1. Deficiency

Thiamin deficiency usually presents with symptoms of peripheral neuritis, cardiac insufficiency and a tendency for oedemas and may be accompanied by extreme fatigue, irritability, forgetfulness, poor coordination, gastrointestinal disturbances, constipation, laboured breathing, loss of appetite and weight loss (WHO, 1999).

Thiamin deficiency leads to disorders that include several forms of beriberi, with mostly neurological and cardiovascular manifestations. Dry beriberi is predominately a neurological disorder with a sensory and motor peripheral neuropathy. Wet beriberi is the term used for thiamin deficiency that, in addition to the presence of peripheral neuropathy, involves cardiovascular manifestations that include congestive heart failure, cardiomegaly and tachycardia. A rapidly developing form of wet beriberi refers to the acute fulminant cardiovascular beriberi (Shoshin beriberi), or acute pernicious beriberi. Infantile beriberi can occur in breastfed infants of thiamin-deficient mothers at the age of 2–6 months and may be characterised by both neurologic and cardiac signs with lethal outcome due to heart failure (Roman-Campos and Cruz, 2014; Abdou and Hazell, 2015). Infantile thiamin deficiency was described in infants fed a soy-based thiamin-deficient infant formula (Fattal-Valevski et al., 2005). Lack of thiamin impairs metabolic functions of the brain and can lead to Wernicke's encephalopathy, which is clinically characterised by ocular abnormalities, ataxia, and disturbances of consciousness, and to Korsakoff's syndrome (psychosis) resulting in amnesia, disorientation and often confabulation (Harper et al., 1986; Gui et al., 2006; Sechi and Serra, 2007; Kopelman et al., 2009).

Thiamin deficiency occurs predominantly in populations whose diet consists mainly of poor sources of thiamin (as milled white cereals, including polished rice and white wheat flour). It can also be related to diets that are rich in thiaminase, a natural thiamin-degrading enzyme, which is abundantly present in some raw or fermented fish, ferns and insects consumed primarily in Africa and Asia (WHO, 1999). In Western countries, thiamin deficiency is associated with alcoholism and drug abuse, and can occur in other risk groups including subjects after bariatric surgery, gastrectomy, or with chronic gastrointestinal and liver disorders (Lonsdale, 2012; Crook and Sriram, 2014).

#### 2.2.2.2. Excess

Reviewing the evidence to set a tolerable upper intake level (UL) for thiamin, the SCF noted that data on adverse effects of oral intake of thiamin in humans were limited and that dose-response studies were lacking (SCF, 2001). The SCF also noted that thiamin absorption declines for an intake higher than 5 mg/day and absorbed thiamin is actively excreted in the urine. No lowest-observed-adverse-effect level (LOAEL) or no-observed-adverse-effect level (NOAEL), and therefore, no UL, could be set for thiamin.

#### 2.3. Physiology and metabolism

#### 2.3.1. Intestinal absorption and bioavailability

Thiamin in food exists mainly in phosphorylated forms in animal products, and in free form in foods of plant origin. Thiamin phosphate esters are hydrolysed in the intestinal lumen by phosphatases, mainly the alkaline phosphatase associated with brush-border membranes. Free thiamin is taken up through the mucosal membrane by a specific saturable transport system (Laforenza et al., 1997; Reidling et al., 2002). Two transporters, ThTR-1 and ThTR-2, encoded by *SLC19A2* and *SLC19A3* genes, are involved in intestinal thiamin uptake (Said et al., 2004). In case of low dietary thiamin intake, an enhanced expression of ThTR-2 is induced, but not of ThTR-1 (Laforenza et al., 1997; Reidling et al., 2002; Said et al., 2004).

When two healthy young men received an oral dose of 0.67 mg  $2^{-14}$ C-thiazole-labelled thiamin (50 µCi) and a controlled diet providing a constant thiamin intake (range 1.35–2.10 mg/day, mean 1.75 mg/day), less than 1% of the radioactivity dose was found in the first and second day faecal samples (Ariaey-Nejad et al., 1970). Overall, less than 5% of the labelled dose was found in the 5-day faecal collection. In another study which involved 10 healthy individuals who received a dose of 1 mg of  $2^{-14}$ C-thiazole-labelled thiamin (10 µCi), mean faecal excretion was 4 ± 6.1% during the first 24 h after administration (Tomasulo et al., 1968).

The efficiency of thiamin absorption is reduced upon consumption of thiamin above 5 mg/day, (Friedemann et al., 1948; Davis et al., 1984). When thiamin was infused directly into the lumen of the small intestine of humans and animals, it was absorbed by an active process at low concentrations (0.2–2.0  $\mu$ M (0.05–0.50 mg/L)) and by a passive process at higher concentrations (5.0–50.0  $\mu$ M (1.3–13 mg/L)) (Hoympa et al., 1975; Hoympa et al., 1982; Hoympa, 1982).

Chronic alcohol consumption impairs the intestinal absorption of thiamin, possibly through the inhibition of thiamin transporters (Subramanya et al., 2010). In the above-mentioned study from Tomasulo et al. (1968), significantly lower absorption of thiamin was found in 20 chronic alcoholic individuals (mean faecal excretion of labelled thiamin 21  $\pm$  13.9%), compared to the 10 healthy controls (4  $\pm$  6.1%).

Bioavailability of dietary thiamin can also be impaired by different types of anti-thiamin factors present in some foods. These factors degrade or modify thiamin so that it cannot be absorbed or loses its function. Sulfites, which are added to foods as a preservative, destroy thiamin at the methylene bridge. Thiamin can also be degraded by thermolabile thiaminases present in some raw or fermented fish, ferns and insects (Combs, 1992; WHO, 1999). Plants may contain heat-stable thiamin antagonists, such as some aromatic acids (e.g. caffeic acid, chlorogenic acid, and tannic acid), which can oxidise the thiazole ring, making thiamin absorption impossible. Flavonoids, quercetin and rutin, have also been implicated as thiamin antagonists (Kositawattanakul et al., 1977; Hilker and Somogyi, 1982; Vimokesant et al., 1982). The bioavailability of thiamin was found to be reduced in controlled studies comparing diet with and without tea (Wang and Kies, 1991; Saeed and Zaheer-ud-Din, 1996).

Microbiota of the large intestine can synthesise thiamin in the form of TDP. *In vivo* experiments suggested that thiamin derived from bacterial synthesis is not used as a source of the vitamin (Alexander and Landwehr, 1946; Denko et al., 1946). More recently, free thiamin was found to be taken up by isolated human colonic epithelial cells via a process similar to the one occurring in the small intestine. A specific regulated high-affinity carrier-mediated uptake system (encoded by *SLC44A4* gene) for TDP was also identified (Nabokina et al., 2015). Further studies are needed to determine whether TDP synthesised by microbiota may be used by colonocytes.

The Panel notes that data on the efficiency of thiamin absorption are limited. In healthy subjects, thiamin absorption was found to be above 95% of daily thiamin intake lower than 2 mg, as determined by the absorption of <sup>14</sup>C-labelled thiamin. The Panel notes that alcohol and anti-thiamin factors (such as some phenolic compounds, sulfites and thiaminases) can reduce thiamin bioavailability.

#### 2.3.2. Transport in blood

Thiamin is transported by a high-affinity transporter into erythrocytes, where it is phosphorylated to TDP, a fraction of which is further converted to TTP (Gangolf et al., 2010). As a result, thiamin in blood is mainly found in erythrocytes (> 80% of total thiamin in the blood) in the form of TDP and TTP, while low amounts of the vitamin are present in plasma, as free thiamin, TMP and protein-bound TDP (Gangolf et al., 2010).

#### **2.3.3.** Distribution to and content in tissues

Thiamin is taken up by cells of the blood, liver, heart and other tissues, including the placenta and brain, by active transport, mostly through thiamin transporters ThTR-1 and ThTR-2. In addition, the reduced folate carrier-1 (encoded by *SLC19A1* gene) provides a minor access route for TMP, TDP and TTP but not free thiamin. Members of the human extraneuronal monoamine transporter proteins, including the organic cation transporter proteins, are active in the transport of amine forms of nutrients and neurotransmitters, including thiamin, to the neurons (Zhao and Goldman, 2013; Manzetti et al., 2014).

The total thiamin content of the adult body has been estimated to be about 25–30 mg, located mostly in the skeletal muscles, heart, brain, liver and kidneys (Ariaey-Nejad et al., 1970; Manzetti et al., 2014). Analysis of biopsies from various human tissues shows that TDP is the most abundant thiamin compound, with the highest content in the heart and skin, followed by the kidney, lung, colon, adipose tissue, skeletal muscle and vascular samples (content from  $9 \pm 6$  to  $66 \pm 44$  pmol/mg protein). The content of other forms is low: TMP content ranged from  $0.7 \pm 0.4$  to  $3.6 \pm 0.8$  pmol/mg protein in most tissues except the kidney with a content of 80 pmol/mg protein; TTP content ranged from  $0.3 \pm 0.2$  to  $3 \pm 4$  pmol/mg protein; and free thiamin content ranged from 0.07 pmol/mg protein in the colon to 3.5 pmol/mg protein in the kidney (Gangolf et al., 2010). In some tissues (lung, thymus, skin, skeletal muscle, adipose tissue, arteries and veins), ATTP has also been found ( $0.13 \pm 0.05$  to  $7 \pm 9$  pmol/mg protein). Analysis of distribution between subcellular fractions has shown that in most tissues, about 50% of the total thiamin occurs in the soluble fraction, 35% in mitochondria, 10% in the nuclei and 5% in the microsomal fraction (Rucker et al., 2007). Free thiamin or TMP cross the cell membranes and can be found in extracellular fluids including the cerebrospinal fluid (Manzetti et al., 2014).

The biological half-life of the vitamin was found in the range of 9–18 days (Ariaey-Nejad et al., 1970; Manzetti et al., 2014).

#### 2.3.4. Metabolism

In cells, two enzymes phosphorylate thiamin: thiamin diphosphokinase, which catalyses the formation of TDP from free thiamin using adenosine triphosphate (ATP), and TTP-ATP-phosphoryltransferase, which catalyses the formation of TTP from TDP and ATP. TTP and TDP are catabolised by thiamin pyrophosphatase yielding TMP. TMP can be recycled to free thiamin or is excreted in the urine. Free thiamin as well as numerous thiamin metabolites formed in the liver are also excreted via urine (Combs, 2008; Ross et al., 2014) (Section 2.3.5.1).

#### 2.3.5. Elimination

#### 2.3.5.1. Urine

Thiamin is excreted in urine as free thiamin, small amounts as TMP and TDP, the oxidation product thiochrome, and more than 20 metabolites such as acid metabolites (2-methyl-4-amino-5-pyrimidine carboxylic acid, 4-methylthiazole-5-acetic acid, and thiamin acetic acid) and a 25-kDa thiamin containing peptide (Ariaey-Nejad et al., 1970; Combs, 2008; Ross et al., 2014). Thiamin that is not bound to plasma proteins is rapidly filtered in the glomerulus and excreted (Bender, 2003).

Urinary excretion varies with the level of thiamin intake. Thiamin depletion is associated with a marked decrease in thiamin excretion (Ziporin et al., 1965a,b; Kraut et al., 1966; Bamji, 1970; Sauberlich et al., 1979), while the urinary excretion rate increases with increasing thiamin intakes (Alexander et al., 1946; Mickelsen et al., 1947; Kraut et al., 1966; Davis et al., 1984; Shibata et al., 2014) (Section 2.4.3). An enzyme which rapidly dephosphorylates unbound TDP was identified in human plasma, and this may facilitate excretion of an excess of the vitamin (Thom et al., 1985).

The Panel notes that urine is the main route of thiamin excretion, mainly in the form of free thiamin and thiamin metabolites.

#### 2.3.5.2. Faeces

Significant amounts of thiamin are excreted in faeces (in the order of 0.10–0.40 mg/day) (Alexander, 1943; Hathaway and Strom, 1946; Boyden and Erikson, 1966). At usual levels of intake,

faecal excretion of thiamin is not related to thiamin intake (Hathaway and Strom, 1946; Boyden and Erikson, 1966); an increase in thiamin excretion in the stool was observed with thiamin intakes above 5 mg/day (Schultz et al., 1938; Alexander, 1943). Thiamin in faeces arises mainly from its biosynthesis by gut microorganisms, and is largely present within bacterial cells (Najjar and Holt, 1943; Alexander and Landwehr, 1946). Upon parenteral administration of thiamin, no significant increase in faecal thiamin was observed, which indicates that thiamin is not secreted into the gastrointestinal tract (Alexander, 1943).

The Panel notes that faecal thiamin is not related to thiamin intake in the usual range of intake. Significant amounts of thiamin are synthesised by gut microorganisms, which are not bioavailable and are excreted in faeces.

#### 2.3.5.3. Sweat

Sweat may contain up to  $8-16 \mu$ g/L of thiamin (Bender, 2003). The Panel notes that sweat does not represent a significant route of thiamin loss.

#### 2.3.5.4. Breast milk

Thiamin is present in breast milk mostly as TMP (about 70%) and free thiamin (about 30%), while a negligible amount of TDP has been reported (less than 1%) (Stuetz et al., 2012a,b). The concentration of thiamin is lower in colostrum (1–5 days) and transitional milk (5–13 days) than in mature milk, and the concentration remains constant during the rest of the lactation (Roderuck et al., 1945; Ford et al., 1983; Dostalova et al., 1988). Maternal thiamin intake does not significantly affect the thiamin concentration in breast milk, except in women deficient in the vitamin (Picciano, 1995; Coats et al., 2013). Nail et al. (1980) and Thomas et al. (1980) found about 10% difference in thiamin breast milk concentrations between supplemented (1.7 mg/day of thiamin as part of a multivitamin supplement) and non-supplemented mothers.

Thiamin concentrations in breast milk from healthy mothers of term infants in Western countries are shown in Appendix A. The mean thiamin concentrations in mature breast milk ranged from 0.14 to 0.22 mg/L (midpoint 0.18 mg/L) (Roderuck et al., 1945; Nail et al., 1980; Thomas et al., 1980; Ford et al., 1983; Dostalova et al., 1988; Ortega et al., 2004).

Considering an average milk transfer of 0.8 L/day during the first 6 months of lactation in exclusively breastfeeding women (Butte et al., 2002; FAO/WHO/UNU, 2004; EFSA NDA Panel, 2009), and a concentration of thiamin in mature breast milk of 0.18 mg/L, the secretion of thiamin into milk during lactation is estimated to be 0.15 mg/day.

#### **2.3.6.** Interaction with other nutrients

TDP is involved in many metabolic processes in which it serves as a coenzyme (Section 2.2.1). The three dehydrogenases for which TDP acts as a cofactor require other cofactors derived from pantothenic acid, riboflavin, and niacin (Frank, 2015). Transketolase activation depends on thiamin as well as divalent cations, such as  $Ca^{2+}$  and  $Mg^{2+}$  (Kochetov, 1982; Ospanov et al., 2007). Magnesium deficiency has been reported to aggravate thiamin deficiency in humans (Dyckner et al., 1985).

Thiamin is involved in carbohydrate metabolism (Section 2.2.1). In an intervention study, the influence of a stepwise increase in carbohydrate contribution to energy intake on urinary and blood thiamin concentration and the erythrocyte transketolase activity (ETKA) was studied in 12 healthy volunteers (six men and six women, aged 25–30 years) consuming defined isocaloric diet  $(9.1 \pm 3.0 \text{ MJ/day})$  and with a constant level of physical activity (Elmadfa et al., 2001). During a 4-day adaptation phase (period I), the carbohydrate intake was 55% of total energy intake and the thiamin intake was 0.13 mg/MJ. During the subsequent intervention periods, the carbohydrate intake was increased to 65% of total energy for 4 days (period II) and to 75% for another 4 days (period III), and the thiamin intake was 0.10 and 0.11 mg/MJ, respectively. No significant differences in transketolase activity were found in periods II and III compared to that measured in period I, while the mean blood thiamin concentration and urinary excretion of thiamin decreased significantly.

The Panel notes that there are limited data on the relationship between thiamin requirement and carbohydrate intake in humans.

#### 2.3.7. Energy intake and expenditure

In two studies, which compared thiamin status in physically active subjects and less active controls, no difference between groups was found in erythrocyte transketolase activation coefficients (Fogelholm



et al., 1992; Malara et al., 2013). In these studies, energy intakes were significantly higher in the active groups than in the less active groups, while thiamin intakes, expressed in mg/MJ, were comparable. The Panel notes that in these studies no alteration in erythrocyte transketolase activation coefficient ( $\alpha$ ETK) was found when enhanced energy expenditure was accompanied by increased thiamin intake. In a longitudinal study in swimmers, a significant decline in blood thiamin concentrations (by 13% in men and 19% in women, respectively) after an intensive training associated with enhanced energy expenditure, as compared to the control period, was observed (Sato et al., 2011). There was no significant difference in mean dietary thiamin intakes between the study periods (1.28 vs 1.54 mg/day, assessed by 3-day food records). When expressed in mg/MJ, women had a lower thiamin intake during the training period than during the control period (control vs training: 0.107 mg/MJ, p = 0.033), while intakes were similar in the two periods in men (control vs training: 0.105 vs 0.109 mg/MJ). The Panel notes that no other marker than thiamin blood concentration was measured in this study, which makes the study difficult to interpret.

The depletion–repletion study by Sauberlich et al. (1979) aimed at relating thiamin requirement to energy utilisation (Section 5.1.1). Seven subjects were assigned to diets providing controlled intakes of thiamin and either 2,800 or 3,600 kcal, and constant weights of the subjects were maintained by adjusting daily activity and exercise schedules. Thiamin requirements were evaluated in terms of  $\alpha$ ETK and urinary excretion of the vitamin (see Sections 2.4.2 and 2.4.3). A daily intake of 0.84 mg thiamin/ day failed to restore normal  $\alpha$ ETK in subjects with an energy intake of 3,600 kcal/day, while this amount was associated with adequate  $\alpha$ ETK in subjects with 2,800 kcal/day. At this level of intake, subjects with an energy intake of 3,600 kcal/day had lower urinary excretion of thiamin than subjects with 2,800 kcal/day. When both groups received a similar amount of thiamin per energy unit (0.072 mg/MJ, corresponding to 0.84 and 1.08 mg/day in the respective groups), no difference in urinary thiamin excretion between groups was found and adequate  $\alpha$ ETK were achieved in both groups. The Panel notes that this study indicates a positive relationship between thiamin requirement and energy intake and expenditure.

The Panel notes that thiamin is involved in energy-yielding reactions (Section 2.2.1). The Panel also notes that data on the relationship between thiamin requirement and energy requirement are limited; however, available data indicate a positive relationship between thiamin requirement and energy requirement.

#### 2.4. Biomarkers of intake and status

#### 2.4.1. Whole blood, serum and erythrocyte thiamin concentrations

The concentrations of total thiamin (free thiamin and its phosphate esters) in whole blood, serum and erythrocytes have been investigated as biomarkers of thiamin status. In Western healthy populations, concentrations of total thiamin in whole blood are typically in the range of 70–190 nmol/L (Schrijver et al., 1982, 1985; Laschi-Loquerie et al., 1992; Lu and Frank, 2008). The major part of thiamin is present in erythrocytes. Concentrations of total thiamin in the serum fraction are between 10 and 20 nmol/L. Whole blood TDP concentration in the range of 90–220 nmol/L, TMP 1–10 nmol/L, TTP 1–13 nmol/L and free thiamin 2–15 nmol/L have been reported (Warnock et al., 1978; Lu and Frank, 2008; Gangolf et al., 2010). Lower total thiamin concentrations have been reported in whole blood of beriberi patients (Kawai et al., 1980; Kuriyama et al., 1980) and in erythrocytes of alcoholic subjects (Mancinelli et al., 2003; Ceccanti et al., 2005), compared to healthy individuals. In a longitudinal study in which four young adults were maintained on a constant diet for 60 days (1.55 mg thiamin/day), within-subject variation in whole blood total thiamin concentration (SD)) total thiamin concentrations varied between 130  $\pm$  11 and 166  $\pm$  19 nmol/L across subjects, indicating substantial between-subjects variation with a similar level of thiamin intake.

Particular attention has been paid to the use of TDP concentrations in erythrocytes as a marker of low thiamin status. In rats on a thiamin-deficient diet, erythrocyte and liver TDP concentration begun to be depleted before any change in the erythrocyte transketolase activity was detected, suggesting that erythrocyte TDP levels may be a more sensitive indicator of thiamin status (Warnock et al., 1978). In humans, Talwar et al. (2000) found that measures of TDP concentrations in erythrocytes compared well with the erythrocyte transketolase activity. The two methods were in agreement for 58 of 63 individuals. A total of 14 individuals were considered to be thiamin deficient by the transketolase activation test (cut-off value: > 1.25), and 13 of them also had erythrocyte TDP concentrations lower



than the reference range established in the study (95% reference interval: 280–590 ng/g Hb). Four individuals with low TDP concentrations had the  $\alpha$ ETK  $\leq$  1.25, although they were close to the cut-off (1.21–1.23). Measures of TDP in erythrocytes or whole blood have been used to assess thiamin status in populations (Hanninen et al., 2006; Brough et al., 2007; Stuetz et al., 2012a; Whitfield et al., 2015), with different cut-off values applied by the respective research groups. Wilkinson et al. (2000) reported lower mean (95% CI) erythrocyte TDP concentrations in 221 older healthy subjects (149 (137–160) nmol/L) compared to 100 younger adults (224 (213–235) nmol/L) and erythrocyte TDP concentrations were found to decrease as age progressed (–20 (–14.5–24.5)% over 3 years).

In the usual range, these biomarkers are not related to the observed habitual thiamin intake and their response to thiamin supplementation is modest. In observational studies in populations with mean thiamin intake between 0.9 and 1.2 mg/day, no significant correlations between thiamin intake and total thiamin concentrations were found in whole blood, serum or erythrocytes (Bailey et al., 1994; Hiraoka, 2001) and no or poor (r = 0.268; p < 0.05) correlations were found between thiamin intake and TDP concentration in whole blood (Fidanza et al., 1989; Ihara et al., 2005). A study in pregnant women who received thiamin supplementation (n = 41; 3 mg thiamin/day for around 20 weeks) or a placebo (n = 25) showed no significant difference in mean concentration of TDP in whole blood (mean ( $\pm$  SD) 100.3  $\pm$  41.6 nmol/L vs 88.7  $\pm$  36.8 nmol/L) (Brough et al., 2007). In healthy adults (aged 20–55 years), high intake of thiamin (5–15 mg/day) resulted in modest increases in serum or whole blood concentrations of thiamin, while an active excretion of the vitamin in urine was observed (Davis et al., 1984; Shibata et al., 2014), indicating that blood thiamin concentration is regulated by the urinary excretion of the vitamin, besides reduced intestinal absorption.

The Panel notes that thiamin deficiency is generally associated with 'low' total thiamin or TDP concentrations in whole blood and erythrocytes. The Panel also notes that the determination of TDP concentration in erythrocytes had similar performance as the erythrocyte transketolase activation assay to assess thiamin status. The Panel notes, however, the lack of established cut-offs for these biomarkers. In the usual range of intake, total thiamin or TDP concentrations in whole blood and erythrocytes are not valid markers of thiamin intake.

### 2.4.2. Erythrocyte transketolase activity (ETKA) and erythrocyte transketolase activity coefficient (αETK)

Erythrocyte transketolase is a TDP-requiring enzyme. Measurement of its activity (ETKA) is a functional test of thiamin status. Different methods of determination can be used (McCormick and Greene, 1994), based on the rate of substrate utilised (e.g. ribose-5-phosphate) or product formed (e.g. fructose-6-phosphate, sedoheptulose-7-phosphate) in the two reactions catalysed by the enzyme (Section 2.2.1). ETKA can be measured without (basal) or with (stimulated) added TDP.  $\alpha$ ETK (also called 'TDP effect') represents the degree to which ETKA rises in response to addition of TDP and corresponds to the ratio of stimulated to basal enzyme activity, sometimes expressed as a percentage (i.e. percentage of activation when TDP is added). This effect can discriminate low ETKA due to thiamin deficiency from a lack of the apoenzyme (Sauberlich, 1999).

The erythrocyte transketolase activity coefficient may be regarded as a continuum with  $\alpha$ ETK value increasing progressively from values close to 1, when the level of saturation of the enzyme with its cofactor is high, to higher values as thiamin deficiency develops, until severe deficiency symptoms occur (Lonsdale, 2012). Based on experimental thiamin deficiency studies in which αETK and urinary excretion of thiamin were assessed in individuals maintained on controlled intakes of thiamin (Brin, 1962; Sauberlich, 1967; Wood et al., 1980), classifications have been proposed for the interpretation of results of  $\alpha$ ETK in the assessment of thiamin status. In these studies,  $\alpha$ ETK in control subjects were typically below 10%, while in individuals receiving a thiamin-depleted diet  $\alpha$ ETK was found to progressively increase by up to more than 30% after several weeks of depletion. In general,  $\alpha$ ETK  $\leq 1.15$  ( $\leq 15\%$ ) is considered as an indicative of an adequate thiamin status,  $\alpha$ ETK values 1.15–1.25 (15–25%) as a marker of insufficiency, while  $\alpha$ ETK > 1.25 (> 25%) is considered as an indicator of thiamin deficiency (IOM, 1998; WHO, 1999). These cut-off values have been applied to assess thiamin status of population groups (Duffy et al., 1981; Mataix et al., 2003; Wolters et al., 2003; Yang et al., 2005; Shaw et al., 2007). In eight infants aged 2.5-12 months who had consumed a thiamin free soy-based formula for some months,  $\alpha$ ETK were between 13.8% and 37.8% (Fattal-Valevski et al., 2005). In the VERA (Verbundstudie Ernährungserhebung und Risikofaktoren Analytik) nationally representative survey of the German adult population (n = 2,006 adults), median thiamin intakes of 1.36 mg/day in men and 1.1 mg/day in women were associated with median  $\alpha$ ETK of 1.11 and 1.10,



respectively (Heseker et al., 1992). In the UK National Diet and Nutrition Survey (NDNS) (n = 6,828), mean thiamin intakes in adults were 1.44 mg/day (19–64 years) and 1.43 mg/day ( $\geq$  65 years), and in children 0.94 mg/day (1.5–3 years), 1.27 mg/day (4–10 years) and 1.38 mg/day (11–18 years) (Bates et al., 2014). In blood samples obtained from 2,671 participants, mean  $\alpha$ ETK in adults was 1.12 (19–64 years) and 1.11 ( $\geq$  65 years), and in children 1.07 (1.5–3 years), 1.10 (4–10 years) and 1.12 (11–18 years).

Interindividual variabilities of ETKA and  $\alpha$ ETK are large. In a study in Japanese subjects aged > 15 years, mean ( $\pm$  SD) ETKA were 374  $\pm$  135 µg/mL erythrocytes/h (range 150–650) in 21 patients with diagnosed beriberi compared to 461  $\pm$  61  $\mu$ g/mL erythrocytes/h (range 250–850) in 674 control subjects (p < 0.01) (Kuriyama et al., 1980). Measures of  $\alpha$ ETK were 34.6  $\pm$  18.4% (range 8–85%) and 11.6  $\pm$  11.5% (range -10-55%) in the respective groups (p < 0.001). The two groups could not be reliably separated using a single biomarker because of significant overlaps. Several factors may affect the specificity of these assays, such as the unstability of the enzyme during sample storage (Puxty et al., 1985), altered binding of apoenzyme and coenzyme because of the presence of transketolase isoenzymes (Warnock et al., 1978; Baines and Davies, 1988; Talwar et al., 2000), as well as reduced synthesis of the apoenzyme in patients with diabetes and liver disease (Talwar et al., 2000). Prolonged thiamin deficiency also induces a reduction in the apoenzyme level so that both basal and stimulated erythrocyte transketolase activities are low, resulting in a misleading 'normal' aETK value (Bamji, 1976; Schrijver, 1991). Notable interindividual variation in the time required for formation of fully functional holoenzyme have been reported, in particular at low TDP concentrations (Singleton et al., 1995). The status of other nutrients which contribute to the enzyme activity (Section 2.3.6), such as magnesium, has also been reported to affect the assay (Lonsdale, 2007).

In depletion–repletion studies, measures of basal ETKA (Ziporin et al., 1965a; Bamji, 1970; Wood et al., 1980) and  $\alpha$ ETK (Kraut et al., 1966; Sauberlich et al., 1979; Wood et al., 1980) were found to be sensitive to large changes in thiamin intake levels (Section 5.1.1). These markers have also been found to respond to thiamin supplementation (Reuter et al., 1967; Asciutti-Moura et al., 1993). In contrast, in observational cross-sectional studies in children (Jung et al., 2003), adolescents (Bailey et al., 1994) and adults (Gans and Harper, 1991; Nichols and Basu, 1994) on their usual diet (thiamin intake range: 1.07–1.7 mg/day), no significant relationships between thiamin intakes and measures of ETKA and  $\alpha$ ETK were found.

The Panel notes that ETKA and  $\alpha$ ETK are sensitive markers of thiamin function and status. ETKA decreases and  $\alpha$ ETK increases following depletion of the vitamin. A value of  $\alpha$ ETK < 1.15 (i.e. < 15% increase in ETKA upon addition of TDP) is generally considered to reflect an adequate thiamin status. Several factors may affect the specificity of these assays and confound their interpretation, so that their combination with other biomarkers (Sections 2.4.1 and 2.4.3) is required to reliably assess the thiamin status of individuals. In the usual range of intake, no relationships have been found between thiamin intake and both ETKA and  $\alpha$ ETK.

#### 2.4.3. Urinary excretion of thiamin

In studies using controlled diets, linear relationships between thiamin intake and 24-h urinary excretion of free thiamin were described over a wide range of thiamin intakes (0.03 and 10 mg/day) (Mickelsen et al., 1947; Reuter et al., 1967; Fukuwatari and Shibata, 2008; Tasevska et al., 2008; Shibata et al., 2014). In a controlled study in seven male and six female healthy participants consuming their usual diet for 30 days (mean  $\pm$  SD thiamin intake: 2.22  $\pm$  0.55 mg/day), large intraand interindividual variability in 24-h urinary excretion of thiamin was found (32.5% and 36.7%, respectively) (Tasevska et al., 2008). In a multiple regression model controlled for body weight and age, thiamin intake was a significant predictor of thiamin urinary excretion (adjusted r = 0.51; p < 0.001), with almost half of the variance left unexplained. The percentage of thiamin intake recovered in urine showed large interindividual variability (11.9-41.5%). In a longitudinal study in which four young adults were maintained under a constant diet for 60 days (1.55 mg thiamin/day) (van Dokkum et al., 1990), within-subject variation in urinary thiamin excretion of 11-13% was found and the variability was similar when the results were expressed per mmol creatinine. Mean 24-h urinary excretion ranged from 0.43 to 0.67 mg/day across subjects. The levels of carbohydrates consumption (Elmadfa et al., 2001) (Section 2.3.6) and energy expenditure (Sauberlich et al., 1979) (Section 2.3.7) have been found to affect urinary excretion of thiamin. Variability in thiamin absorption (Section 2.3.3) as well as genetic variability in thiamin metabolism (Section 2.3.7) and other factors may also influence urinary excretion of thiamin, although experimental data are lacking.



The correlations between thiamin intake, estimated through 4-day weighted food record, and 24-h thiamin urinary excretion were assessed in cross-sectional studies in Japanese populations (Tsuji et al., 2010a,b, 2011). Correlations were r = 0.42 (p < 0.001) in 114 male and female children aged 10–12 years, r = 0.42 (p < 0.001) in 156 male and female adults aged 18–27 years and r = 0.62 (p < 0.001) in 37 women aged 70–84 years.

When tissues are depleted, urinary thiamin excretion is decreased. In depletion-repletion studies, urinary excretion of the vitamin was observed to decrease progressively down to 0.04-0.07 mg/24 h with thiamin intakes between 0.036 and 0.048 mg/MJ (0.15 and 0.20 mg/1,000 kcal) for a few weeks (Kraut et al., 1966; Bamji, 1970; Sauberlich et al., 1979; Wood et al., 1980) (Section 5.1.1). In these studies, thiamin urinary excretion rapidly increased upon repletion with the vitamin. In the study by (Ziporin et al., 1965a,b), where thiamin intake was restricted to 0.009–0.015 mg/MJ (0.039–0.064 mg/ 1,000 kcal) for 30 days, thiamin was not detected in urine at the end of the depletion period. The mean amounts of thiamin metabolites (sum of pyrimidine and thiazole moieties) excreted in urine increased from 0.588 to 0.748 mg/24 h during the control period to 0.747-0.965 mg/24 h during the depletion period. In this study, urinary excretion below 0.03 mg/24 h persisted during the 12-day 'low level' repletion period (0.046-0.052 mg/MJ (0.19-0.22 mg/1,000 kcal)), while the clinical symptoms and biochemical impairment (decline in ETKA), which had developed during the depletion phase, progressively disappeared. In patients with beriberi, reported urinary thiamin excretion was < 0.015 mg/24 h (Robinson et al., 1940; Sauberlich, 1967). Urinary free thiamin excretion < 0.04 mg/24 h may be used as an indicator of low thiamin intake associated with high risk of thiamin deficiency (WHO, 1999).

The Panel notes that 24-h urinary thiamin excretion is related to thiamin intake, particularly to short-term intakes, in thiamin-replete individuals. However, the thiamin intake cannot reliably be estimated from the urinary excretion of the vitamin. The determination of 24-h urinary thiamin excretion is not a reliable marker of thiamin body stores and cannot, on its own, be used as a biomarker of the thiamin status of individuals. In experimental studies where 24-h urinary thiamin excretion is assessed in response to various intakes of the vitamin, a sharp increase in thiamin excretion is considered to be indicative of the saturation of the thiamin body stores.

#### 2.5. Effects of genotypes

Rare mutations in genes encoding thiamin transporters, ThTR-1 and ThTR-2, cause tissue-specific (i.e. localised) deficiency of thiamin. This occurs in patients with thiamin-responsive megaloblastic anaemia (TRMA) and patients with thiamin-responsive Wernicke's-like encephalopathy and Leigh syndrome (Diaz et al., 1999; Kono et al., 2009; Ortigoza-Escobar et al., 2014). The autosomal-recessive disorder TRMA is caused by mutations in the *SLC19A2* gene coding for ThTR-1 (Diaz et al., 1999). The thiamin-responsive Wernicke's-like encephalopathy and Leigh syndrome can be caused by mutations in the *SLC19A3* gene coding for ThTR-2 (Kono et al., 2009; Ortigoza-Escobar et al., 2014). Mutations in the *SLC25A19* gene resulting in a diminution of mitochondrial TDP transporter have also been described. Mutations in the thiamin diphosphokinase gene (*TPK1*) were found to reduce TDP concentrations in blood and muscles, and decreased the activity of TDP-dependent enzyme complexes, especially pyruvate dehydrogenase and  $\alpha$ -ketoglutarate dehydrogenase (Brown, 2014).

The Panel considers that, although the effect of rare mutations affecting thiamin transport and metabolism have been characterised, no genotypes have been identified that would require consideration with regard to the estimation of dietary reference values (DRVs) for thiamin in the general population.

#### 3. Dietary sources and intake data

#### **3.1.** Dietary sources

Thiamin is present in all plant (as free thiamin) and animal tissues (in phosphorylated forms). The principal food sources of thiamin include whole grains, pulses, meat, liver and fish. Food processing (alkaline pH, high temperatures, exposure to sulfites) contributes to significant thiamin loss (Bentreud, 1977; Clydesdale et al., 1991; Ball, 2005; Damodaran et al., 2007).



Currently, thiamin hydrochloride and thiamin mononitrate may be added to both foods<sup>3</sup> and food supplements,<sup>4</sup> and 'thiamin monophosphate chloride' and 'thiamin pyrophosphate chloride' may be also added to food supplements.<sup>4</sup> The thiamin content of infant and follow-on formulae and of processed cereal-based foods and baby foods for infants and children is regulated.<sup>5</sup>

#### 3.2. Dietary intake

EFSA estimated dietary intakes of thiamin from food consumption data available through the EFSA Comprehensive Food Consumption Database (EFSA, 2011a), classified according to the food classification and description system FoodEx2 (EFSA, 2011b). Data from 13 dietary surveys in nine countries of the European Union (EU) were used. The countries included were Finland, France, Germany, Ireland, Italy, Latvia, the Netherlands, Sweden and the UK. The data covered all age groups from infants to adults (Appendix B).

Nutrient composition data for thiamin were derived from the EFSA Nutrient Composition Database (Roe et al., 2013). Food composition information of Finland, France, Germany, Italy, the Netherlands, Sweden and the UK were used to calculate thiamin intakes in these countries, assuming that the best intake estimate would be obtained when both the consumption data and the composition data were from the same country. For nutrient intake estimates of Ireland and Latvia, food composition data from the UK and Germany, respectively, were used, because no specific composition data from these countries were available. The amount of borrowed values for thiamin (i.e. values taken from other tables or databases) varied between 15% (Germany) and 85% (Sweden) in the seven composition databases. The food composition data available in the EFSA Nutrient Composition Database for the respective countries include the effect of processing on thiamin content. EFSA estimates are based on consumption of foods, either fortified or not, but without taking dietary supplements into account.

Data on infants (1–11 months old) were available from Finland, Germany, Italy and the UK. The proportions of breast-fed infants were 58% in the Finnish survey, 40% in the German survey, 44% in the Italian survey and 21% in the UK survey. For the Italian and German surveys, breast milk intake estimates were derived from the number of breastfeeding events recorded per day multiplied by standard breast milk amounts consumed on an eating occasion at different ages. For the UK survey, the amount of breast milk consumed was either directly quantified by the mother (expressed breast milk) or extrapolated from the duration of each breastfeeding event. In the Finnish survey, information was limited to whether infants were breastfed or not, and the contribution of breast milk to thiamin intakes could not be taken into consideration. The Panel notes the limitations in the methods used for assessing breast milk consumption in infants and related uncertainties in the intake estimates for infants (Appendices C and D).

Average thiamin intakes across countries ranged between 0.31 and 0.65 mg/day (0.11–0.21 mg/MJ) among infants (< 1 year old), from 0.58 to 0.98 mg/day (0.12–0.21 mg/MJ) among children aged 1 to < 3 years old, between 0.68 and 1.29 mg/day (0.10–0.21 mg/MJ) among children aged 3 to < 10 years old, from 0.93 to 1.92 mg/day (0.11–0.20 mg/MJ) among children aged 10 to < 18 years old. The average thiamin intake ranged between 0.88 and 1.99 mg/day (0.11–0.24 mg/MJ) among adults ( $\geq$  18 years old). Average daily intakes were in most studies slightly higher among males compared to females mainly due to larger quantities of food consumed per day.

The main food groups contributing to thiamin intake were grain and grain-based products in most population groups or food products for young population for infants or meat and meat products for pregnant adolescents from Latvia. Beside grain and grain-based products, meat and meat products, and milk and milk products were also important contributors to thiamin intake in adults. Differences in main contributors to thiamin intakes between genders were minor.

EFSA intake estimates were compared with published intake estimates from the same national surveys and age ranges (Appendix G). EFSA estimates differed at maximum around 14% from the published values, although in several cases differences were less than 5%. Uncertainties in the estimates of all countries may be caused by several reasons: inaccuracies in mapping food

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Regulation (EC) No 1925/2006 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 20 December 2006 on the addition of vitamins and minerals and of certain other substances to foods, OJ L 404, 30.12.2006, p. 26.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Directive 2002/46/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 10 June 2002 on the approximation of the laws of the Member States relating to food supplements, OJ L 183, 12.7.2002, p. 51.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Commission Directive 2006/141/EC of 22 December 2006 on infant formulae and follow-on formulae and amending Directive 1999/21/EC, OJ L 401, 30.12.2006, p.1. and Commission Directive 2006/125/EC of 5 December 2006 on processed cereal-based foods and baby foods for infants and young children, OJ L 339, 6.12.2006, p. 16–35.



consumption data according to the FoodEx2 classification, analytical errors or errors in estimating the thiamin content of foods in the food composition tables, the use of borrowed thiamin values from other countries or the replacement of missing thiamin values by values of similar foods or food groups in the thiamin intake estimation process. These uncertainties may, in principle, cause both under- and overestimation of thiamin intake. Taking into account the many uncertainties of the thiamin intake estimation, a difference in a magnitude of up to 15% can be considered acceptable. It is not possible to conclude which of the intake estimates (i.e. those by EFSA or the relevant country) would be closer to the actual thiamin intake.

#### 4. Overview of dietary reference values and recommendations

#### 4.1. Adults

The German-speaking countries (D-A-CH, 2015) used  $\alpha$ ETK (< 15%) and urinary thiamin excretion (> 66 µg/day) as the criteria to set DRVs for thiamin (Finglas, 1993; Bemeur and Biutterworth, 2014). They mentioned data on deficiency symptoms in relation to a thiamin intake of 0.05 mg/MJ during 2–8 weeks (Williams et al., 1942; Foltz et al., 1944; Wood et al., 1980), and on adequate ETKA with marginal urinary thiamin excretion at a thiamin intake of 0.07 mg/MJ (Sauberlich et al., 1979). Both ETKA and urinary thiamin excretion were adequate at a thiamin intake of 0.11 mg/MJ (Foltz et al., 1944; Hathaway and Strom, 1946). They considered this intake as the AR for adults. Considering a coefficient of variation of 10%, energy requirements, and data on balance studies and tissue saturation with thiamin (Melnick, 1942), PRIs for adults ranging between 1.0 (women) and 1.3 (men aged 19–25 years) mg/day were set.

For the Nordic Nutrition Recommendations (NNR) 2012, the Nordic countries related the requirement for thiamin to the energy intake (Nordic Council of Ministers, 2014). They considered that data on thiamin intake and health outcomes (Balk et al., 2006; Kabat et al., 2008; Pelucchi et al., 2009; Lu'o'ng and Nguyen, 2011; Key et al., 2012) could not be used to set DRVs. The same reference values as previously published were kept, i.e. an AR for adults of 0.10 mg/MJ (corresponding to 0.9 mg/day for women and 1.2 mg/day for men). The recommended intake (RI) was set at 0.12 mg/MJ, and varied between 1.0 (women aged 61 years and over) and 1.4 (men aged 18–30 years) when expressed in mg/day. They noted that thiamin utilisation is impaired among older adults (Nichols and Basu, 1994). A lower intake level of 0.05 mg/MJ, corresponding to 0.5 mg/day for women and 0.6 mg/day for men, was set based on clinical signs of deficiency observed at intakes below 0.5 mg/day (0.05 mg/MJ) (Sauberlich et al., 1979; WHO/FAO, 2004). When planning diets with energy intakes lower than 8 MJ/day, a thiamin intake of at least 0.8, or 1.0 mg/day in older adults, was recommended.

The World Health Organization/Food and Agriculture Organization (WHO/FAO, 2004) mentioned the controlled depletion–repletion study by Sauberlich et al. (1979) that suggested an intake of 0.07 mg/MJ as the requirement for thiamin. They also mentioned another study indicating signs of deficiency below this intake (Wood et al., 1980), a study in adults that suggested a requirement of 1.0 and 1.2 mg/day for women and men, respectively (Anderson et al., 1985), and data on TDP and  $\alpha$ ETK in older adults (Hoorn et al., 1975; Nichols and Basu, 1994). The WHO/FAO proposed a recommended nutrient intake of 1.1 and 1.2 mg/day for women and men, respectively.

Afssa (2001) mentioned the depletion–repletion study from (Sauberlich et al., 1979) and other data on ETKA (Kraut et al., 1966; Reuter et al., 1967; Anderson et al., 1986) and thiamin excretion in urine. Referring to the previous DRV for thiamin set in 1992, i.e. about 0.13 mg/MJ, and considering the revised French reference values for energy, Afssa set a PRI for thiamin of 1.3 mg/day for men (for an energy intake of 9.2 MJ/day) and 1.0 mg/day for women (for an energy intake of 7.5 MJ/day), also noting that the thiamin intake should not be below 1 mg/day. Afssa also set a PRI of 1.2 mg/day for adults aged 75 years and over.

The Health Council of the Netherlands (2000) considered a study by Horwitt et al. (1948), which showed that clinical signs of deficiency in adults were observed at a thiamin intake below 0.045 mg/MJ. The Council also considered intervention or observational studies in younger adults measuring urinary excretion of thiamin or  $\alpha$ ETK (Melnick, 1942; Ziporin et al., 1965b; Reuter et al., 1967; Bamji, 1970; Henshaw et al., 1970; Sauberlich et al., 1979; Wood et al., 1980; Anderson et al., 1986). For the age range 19–50 years, the Council concluded that the AR was about 0.07–0.08 mg/MJ for men and 0.09 mg/MJ for women. Based on an energy intake of 11.2 MJ/day for men and 8.5 MJ/day for women derived from the national food consumption survey (Hulshof et al., 1998), the ARs were 0.84 mg/day for men and 0.77 mg/day for women, averaged to an AR of 0.8 mg/day for both sexes,



and the PRI was set at 1.1 mg/day for adults. For older adults aged 51 years and over, the Council considered several intervention or observational studies on thiamin intake and status (thiamin urinary excretion or  $\alpha$ ETK) (Oldham, 1962; Markkanen et al., 1969; Bowles, 1979; DHSS, 1979; Schrijver et al., 1985; Hoofdgroep Voeding en Voedingsmiddelen TNO, 1986; van der Wielen et al., 1994). For this age group, the Council set an AI of 1.1 mg/day.

The US Institute of Medicine (IOM, 1998) derived estimated average requirements (EARs) and recommended daily allowances (RDAs) for adults on the basis of data from 11 metabolic studies on young men and women that used ETKA, urinary excretion and other indicators of thiamin status (Elsom et al., 1942; Foltz et al., 1944; Horwitt et al., 1948; Ziporin et al., 1965b; Kraut et al., 1966; Reuter et al., 1967; Bamji, 1970; Henshaw et al., 1970; Sauberlich et al., 1979; Wood et al., 1980; Anderson et al., 1986). The IOM considered that results from these studies suggest that the AR is at least 0.07 mg/MJ or 0.8 mg/day, and that at an intake above 1.0 mg/day, urinary thiamin excretion is 'normal' and ETKA is almost 'normal'. The IOM noted the uncertainty on the dietary intake assessment of two studies (Henshaw et al., 1970; Anderson et al., 1986) and focused on the controlled depletionrepletion study by Sauberlich et al. (1979). For older adults, the IOM noted that limited evidence suggests that the requirements may be higher in older adults than in younger adults (Oldham, 1962; Pekkarinen et al., 1974; Hoorn et al., 1975; O'Rourke et al., 1990; Nichols and Basu, 1994; Wilkinson et al., 1997). The IOM decided to apply the same reference values as for younger adults. The IOM set an EAR for thiamin of 1.0 mg/day for men and 0.9 mg/day for women (i.e. a 10% lower EAR for women based on body size and energy requirements). RDAs were set at 1.2 and 1.1 mg/day, respectively, by applying a coefficient of variation of 10%.

The SCF (1993) considered that thiamin is involved in energy-yielding metabolism, in particular carbohydrate metabolism, and related the requirements for thiamin to energy intake. Although the SCF noted that the maximum ETKA and the saturation of the enzyme with its coenzyme are obtained for a thiamin intake of 0.140-0.190 mg/MJ (Brin, 1964), the SCF did not consider this to be a suitable indicator to derive a PRI for thiamin. The SCF noted that clinical signs of deficiency are observed with an intake of less than 0.03 mg/MJ, that a long-term intake of 0.045 mg/MJ induced a decline in urinary excretion of thiamin down to 0.015 mg/day after 20 months without signs of deficiency, but with an impairment of metabolism of a glucose test dose after 30 months (Horwitt et al., 1948; Horwitt and Kreisler, 1949). The SCF also noted that an intake of 0.050 mg/MJ maintained urinary excretion of thiamin above 0.015 mg/day in depletion-repletion studies and that an intake of 0.072 mg/MJ maintained a 'normal'  $\alpha$ ETK (Williams et al., 1943; Sauberlich et al., 1979). The SCF considered 0.072 mg/MJ as the AR. Applying a coefficient of variation of 20%, the SCF set a PRI at 0.10 mg/MJ. The LTI was set at 0.050 mg/MJ. The SCF considered that thiamin requirement expressed in ug/MJ was the same for men and women or for younger and older adults. The PRI for thiamin corresponded to 1.1 mg/day and 0.9 mg/day for men and women, respectively, based on average energy expenditure of 11.3 MJ/day for men and 8.5 MJ/day for women. The SCF also suggested a PRI of 0.8 mg/day for subjects with an energy intake of less than 8 MJ/day.

The UK COMA (DH, 1991) noted that beriberi may occur at a thiamin intake of 0.48 mg/MJ (Williams, 1961), with urinary thiamin excretion being below 0.015 mg/day. The UK COMA also noted that 0.4 mg/day thiamin may be the 'absolute minimum' at 'low' energy intakes (Williams et al., 1943), although this value was not confirmed in studies in older subjects (Horwitt et al., 1948). The UK COMA considered the depletion–repletion study from Sauberlich et al. (1979) and set the AR at 0.07 mg/MJ and a reference nutrient intake at 0.09 mg/MJ for adults. They considered that available evidence did not suggest different requirement between men and women (Oldham et al., 1946; Platt, 1958; Bamji, 1970; Ahmed et al., 1975; Lewis and King, 1980; Tang et al., 1989) or between younger and older adults (Horwitt et al., 1948). Based on the AR for energy set for the UK, the reference nutrient intake was set at 1.0 mg/day for men aged 19–50 years, 0.9 mg/day for men aged 50 years and over, and 0.8 mg/day for women. The UK COMA considered that the thiamin intake should be above 0.4 mg/day for people on 'very low' energy diets. A lower reference nutrient intake was also set at 0.05 mg/MJ for adults.

An overview of DRVs for thiamin for adults is presented in Table 1.

	D-A-CH (2015)	NCM (2014)	WHO/FAO (2004)	Afssa (2001)	NL (2000)	IOM (1998)	SCF (1993)	DH (1991)
Age (years)	19–25	18–30	≥ <b>19</b>	19–74	19–50	≥ 18	≥ 18	19–49
DRV men (mg/day)	1.3	1.4	1.2	1.3	1.1	1.2	1.1	1.0
DRV women (mg/day)	1.0	1.1	1.1	1.1	1.1	1.1	0.9	0.8
Age (years)	25–65	31–60	-	$\geq 75$	$\geq 51$	_	-	$\geq 50$
DRV men (mg/day)	1.2	1.3	_	1.2	$1.1^{(a)}$	-	-	0.9
DRV women (mg/day)	1.0	1.1	-	1.2	$1.1^{(a)}$	_	_	0.8
Age (years)	$\geq 65$	$\geq 61$	-	_	_	-	-	_
DRV men (mg/day)	1.1	1.2	-	_	_	_	-	_
DRV women (mg/day)	1.0	1.0	_	_	_	_	_	_

Afssa: Agence française de sécurité sanitaire des aliments; D-A-CH: Deutschland–Austria–Confoederatio Helvetica; DH: Department of Health; DRV: dietary reference value; FAO: Food and Agriculture Organization; IOM: US Institute of Medicine of the National Academy of Sciences; NCM: Nordic Council of Ministers; NL: Health Council of the Netherlands; SCF: Scientific Committee for Food; WHO: World Health Organization.

(a): adequate intake.

#### 4.2. Infants and children

The D-A-CH (2015) considered the AR set for adults of 0.11 mg/MJ, a coefficient of variation of 10%, and the requirements for energy of infants and children, to set the PRIs ranging from 0.4 mg/day for infants aged 4-12 months to 1.4 mg/day for boys aged 15–19 years.

The Nordic countries (Nordic Council of Ministers, 2014) kept the same reference value for infants as previously published, i.e. 0.10 mg/MJ, thus a value of 0.4 mg/day for infants 6–11 months. The AR and RI for children were the same as for adults, i.e. 0.10 and 0.12 mg/MJ, respectively. RIs for children ranged between 0.5 mg/day (1–2 years) and 1.4 mg/day (boys aged 14–17 years).

The WHO/FAO (2004) considered an average thiamin content of human milk of 0.21 mg/L (Committee on Nutrition, 1985) and an average milk intake of infants of 0.75 L/day, which correspond to an intake of 0.16 mg/day thiamin for breast-fed infants. The WHO/FAO also mentioned data on blood concentration of thiamin in infants and young children (Wyatt et al., 1991) and data on thiamin intake and status on children aged 13–14 years (Bailey et al., 1994). The recommended nutrient intake for children ranged from 0.3 mg/day for infants aged 7–11 months to 0.9 mg/day for children aged 7–9 years. Recommended nutrient intakes for boys and girls aged 10–18 years were the same as for adults.

For infants, Afssa (2001) mentioned an average thiamin concentration of human milk of 0.15–0.24 mg/L and set a reference value at 0.2 mg/day. For children, the PRIs were scaled down from the PRI for adults using average square height, and ranged from 0.4 mg/day at age 1–3 years to 1.3 mg/day in boys at age 16–19 years.

For children aged 6 months to 18 years, the Health Council of the Netherlands (2000) noted the limited evidence (Hart and Reynolds, 1957; Bailey et al., 1994), and decided to estimate adequate intakes (AIs) by a linear interpolation between the AI for infants aged 0–5 months and the AR for adults. The AIs ranged from 0.2 mg/day for infants aged 6–11 months to 1.1 mg/day for children aged 14–18 years.

For infants aged 7–12 months, the IOM (1998) compared the reference values that would be derived from the upward extrapolation from the AI of infants aged 0–6 months, from the downward extrapolation from the EAR of adults (by allometric scaling, using body weights to the power of 0.75 and applying growth factors), or from the thiamin content of 0.6 L of breast milk, the average milk volume consumed, and the intake of thiamin via solid foods (Montalto et al., 1985). This last approach was considered to provide a too high value, and the IOM set an AI at 0.3 mg/day by the downward extrapolation from adult EARs. For setting RDAs for children and adolescents aged 9–18 years, the IOM mentioned studies in children older than 13 years that investigated thiamin urinary excretion or erythrocyte transketolase activity (Hart and Reynolds, 1957; Dick et al., 1958; Bailey et al., 1994), but did not consider these studies as sufficient evidence. For all children, the IOM derived EARs by the downward extrapolation from adult EARs (by allometric scaling, using body weights to the power of 0.75 and applying growth factors) and RDAs by applying a coefficient of variation of 10%.



The SCF (1993) concluded that the requirement for thiamin expressed in  $\mu$ g/MJ does not differ between children and adults, thus set the same AR and PRI in  $\mu$ g/MJ. Expressed in mg/day after calculation considering energy intake, the PRI ranged between 0.3 (infants aged 6–11 months) and 1.2 (boys aged 15–17 years) mg/day.

The UK COMA (DH, 1991) estimated the reference nutrient intake for infants to be 0.07 mg/MJ considering an average thiamin concentration of 0.16 mg/L in breast milk and a daily breast milk intake of 850 mL/day (0.05 mg/MJ) (DHSS, 1977), with an increase in the breast milk thiamin concentration during the first 6 weeks post-partum (Nail et al., 1980). For children, the UK COMA considered thiamin intake during the first year of life in the USA without signs of deficiency (0.07–0.16 mg/MJ) (Beal, 1955) and thiamin intake of 0.06–0.09 mg/MJ associated with normal thiamin excretion in girls aged 7–9 years (Boyden and Erikson, 1966). They also refer to a study in boys aged 14–17 years (Dick et al., 1958), which suggested that their minimum requirement was 1.41  $\pm$  0.2 mg/day or 0.09  $\pm$  0.01 mg/MJ (0.38  $\pm$  0.06 mg/1,000 kcal). The UK COMA set for children the same reference nutrient intake of 0.09 mg/MJ as for adults. Based on the AR for energy for UK, reference nutrient intakes in children ranged from 0.2 mg/day at age 7–9 months to 1.1 mg/day in boys aged 15–18 years.

An overview of DRVs for thiamin for infants and children is presented in Table 2.

	D-A-CH (2015)	NCM (2014)	WHO/FAO (2004)	Afssa (2001)	NL (2000)	IOM (1998)	SCF (1993)	DH (1991)
Age (months)	-	_	_	-	-	-	-	7–9
DRV (mg/day)	_	_	_	_	_	-	_	0.2
Age (months)	4–12	6–11	7–12	Infants	6–11	7–12	6–11	10–12
DRV (mg/day)	0.4	0.4	0.3	0.2	0.2 <sup>(a)</sup>	0.3 <sup>(a)</sup>	0.3	0.3
Age (years)	1–4	1–2	1–3	1–3	1–3	1–3	1–3	1–3
DRV (mg/day)	0.6	0.5	0.5	0.4	0.3 <sup>(a)</sup>	0.5	0.5	0.5
Age (years)	4–7	2–5	4–6	4–6	4–8	4–8	4–6	4–6
DRV (mg/day)	0.7	0.6	0.6	0.6	0.5 <sup>(a)</sup>	0.6	0.7	0.7
Age (years)	7–10	6–9	7–9	7–9	9–13		7–10	7–10
DRV boys (mg/day)	0.9	0.9	0.9	0.8	0.8 <sup>(a)</sup>		0.8	0.7
DRV girls (mg/day)	0.8	0.9	0.9	0.8	0.8 <sup>(a)</sup>		0.8	0.7
Age (years)	10–13	10–13	10–18	10–12	14–18	9–13	11–14	11–14
DRV boys (mg/day)	1.0	1.1	1.2	1.0	$1.1^{(a)}$	0.9	1.0	0.9
DRV girls (mg/day)	0.9	1.0	1.1	1.0	$1.1^{(a)}$	0.9	0.9	0.7
Age (years)	13–15	14–17	_	13–19	_	14–18	15–17	15–18
DRV boys (mg/day)	1.2	1.4	_	1.3	_	1.2	1.2	1.1
DRV girls (mg/day)	1.0	1.2	_	1.1	_	1.0	0.9	0.8
Age (years)	15–19	_	_	-	_	-	_	_
DRV boys (mg/day)	1.4	_	_	_	_	-	_	_
DRV girls (mg/day)	1.1	_	_	_	_	_	_	_

Table 2:	Overview of dietar	v reference values	s for thiamin	for infants a	and children
		y reference values			

Afssa: Agence française de sécurité sanitaire des aliments; D–A–CH: Deutschland–Austria–Confoederatio Helvetica; DH: Department of Health; DRV: dietary reference value; FAO: Food and Agriculture Organization; IOM: US Institute of Medicine of the National Academy of Sciences; NCM: Nordic Council of Ministers; NL: Health Council of the Netherlands; SCF: Scientific Committee for Food; WHO: World Health Organization. (a): adequate intake.

#### 4.3. Pregnancy and lactation

The D-A-CH (2015) considered the same AR of 0.11 mg/MJ (0.45 mg/1,000 kcal) as for nonpregnant women, a coefficient of variation of 10% and the increased energy requirement during the second and third trimesters of pregnancy or during lactation, to set the PRIs of 1.2 (second trimester) and 1.3 (third trimester) mg/day for pregnant women and 1.3 mg/day for lactating women.

The Nordic Countries (Nordic Council of Ministers, 2014) followed the approach of the IOM and considered an additional intake of 0.4 mg/day during pregnancy and 0.5 mg/day during lactation, thus a total RI of 1.5 and 1.6 mg/day for pregnant and lactating women, respectively.



In line with the approach by IOM (1998), the WHO/FAO (2004) proposed an additional intake of 0.3 mg/day during pregnancy and an additional intake of 0.4 mg/day during lactation, to be added to the recommended nutrient intake for non-pregnant non-lactating women, thus recommended nutrient intakes of 1.4 and 1.5 mg/day for pregnant and lactating women, respectively.

Afssa (2001) mentioned human and animal data on urinary and blood biomarkers of thiamin status during pregnancy, especially during the third trimester (Heller et al., 1974; Dostalova et al., 1988; Roth-Maier et al., 1990; Icke and Nicol, 1994). Afssa set a reference value of 1.8 mg/day for pregnant women. Afssa noted that thiamin content in breast milk is related to thiamin status of the mother (Thomas et al., 1980), that its secretion in breast milk is on average 0.2 mg/day (Nail et al., 1980) and that energy intake increases during lactation. Afssa set a reference value of 1.8 mg/day for lactating women.

The Health Council of the Netherlands (2000) mentioned studies concerning thiamin requirement during pregnancy (Reuter et al., 1967; Sauberlich, 1978; van den Berg and Bruinse, 1983), which could not be used to set reference values. The Council noted the increased energy intake and the growth of maternal and fetal tissues during pregnancy, and estimated the additional requirement to be 0.2 mg/day thiamin. The Council proposed for pregnancy a total AR of 1.0 mg/day and a PRI of 1.4 mg/day. During lactation, the Council considered a secretion of thiamin in breast milk of 0.16 mg/day based on a milk production of 0.8 L/day and an average thiamin concentration in breast milk of 0.2 mg/L (Fomon and McCormick, 1993), and the increased energy requirements of the mothers. After rounding, the Council thus added 0.4 mg/day to the AR of non-lactating women, and set a total AR of 1.2 mg/day and a total PRI of 1.7 mg/day during lactation.

The IOM (1998) reported studies in pregnant and non-pregnant women (Toverud, 1940; Lockhart et al., 1943; Hathaway and Strom, 1946; Oldham et al., 1946, 1950; Datjm et al., 1948; Slobody et al., 1949; Tripathy, 1968; Chong and Ho, 1970; Heller et al., 1974). They could not be used to set DRVs for pregnancy. The IOM set the EARs for pregnant women considering the increased growth in maternal and fetal compartments (20%) and in energy utilisation (10%), leading to a requirement of 0.3 mg/day after rounding, to be added to the EAR for non-pregnant women. The total EARs for the second and third trimesters of pregnancy were set at 1.2 mg/day. The RDA of 1.4 mg/day was derived using a coefficient of variation (CV) of 10%. For lactating women, taking into account the average volume of milk intake of 0.78 L/day (Hofvander et al., 1982; Chandra, 1984; Neville et al., 1988; Allen et al., 1991; Butte and King, 2002) and an average thiamin content in breast milk of 0.21 mg/L (Committee on Nutrition, 1985), the IOM estimated that 0.16 mg/day of thiamin is transferred in the milk. According to the IOM, these 0.16 mg/day, as well as 0.1 mg/day (to cover the energy cost of milk production) should be added to the EAR for non-pregnant, non-lactating women. The EAR for lactating women was set at 1.2 mg/day, after rounding. The RDA of 1.4 mg/day was derived using a CV of 10%.

The SCF (1993) and the UK COMA (DH, 1991) considered the PRIs set for adults to be sufficient to cover the period of pregnancy and lactation, thus considered that there is no need to increase the PRI for thiamin (expressed in mg/MJ) during a normal pregnancy and that the loss of thiamin in human milk would be compensated by the higher energy intake during lactation. Calculating the PRIs in mg/day considering the increased energy intake during pregnancy and lactation, the PRI set by the SCF was 1.0 mg/day from the 10th week of pregnancy, and 1.1 mg/day for lactation. Considering available data in pregnant women (Oldham et al., 1950; Bagchi and Bose, 1962), and a secretion of 0.14 mg/day of thiamin in breast milk (for a content of 0.16 mg/L and a daily volume of 850 mL), the UK COMA (DH, 1991) set the reference nutrient intake for pregnant or lactating women at 0.09 mg/MJ, as for other women. Expressed in mg/day and considering the AR for energy in the UK, this would lead to an additional 0.1 mg/day thiamin during the last trimester of pregnancy, and an additional 0.2 mg/day thiamin during lactation.

An overview of DRVs for thiamin for pregnant or lactating women is presented in Table 3.



	D-A-CH (2015)	NCM (2014)	WHO/FAO (2004)	Afssa (2001)	NL (2000)	IOM (1998)	SCF (1993)	DH (1991)
DRV pregnancy (mg/day)	1.2 (2nd trimester) 1.3 (3rd trimester)	1.5	1.4	1.8	1.4	1.4	1.0	0.9
DRV lactation (mg/day)	1.3	1.6	1.5	1.8	1.7	1.4	1.1	1.0

**Table 3:** Overview of dietary reference values for thiamin for pregnant or lactating women

Afssa: Agence française de sécurité sanitaire des aliments; D-A-CH: Deutschland–Austria–Confoederatio Helvetica; DH: Department of Health; DRV: dietary reference value; FAO: Food and Agriculture Organization; IOM: US Institute of Medicine of the National Academy of Sciences; NCM: Nordic Council of Ministers; NL: Health Council of the Netherlands; SCF: Scientific Committee for Food; WHO: World Health Organization.

#### 5. Criteria (endpoints) on which to base dietary reference values

#### 5.1. Indicators of thiamin requirement

#### 5.1.1. Depletion–repletion studies

A number of depletion–repletion studies have assessed changes in ETKA/ $\alpha$ ETK and urinary excretion of thiamin in response to controlled dietary intake of thiamin. The Panel considers that taken together these are suitable biomarkers for deriving the requirement for thiamin (Sections 2.4.2 and 2.4.3). The Panel also considers that there is a positive relationship between thiamin requirement and energy requirement (Section 2.3.7). Therefore, thiamin intakes are expressed per MJ (per 1,000 kcal) for the assessment.

Williams et al. (1942) reported that a thiamin intake of 0.052 mg/MJ (0.22 mg/1,000 kcal) for up to 6 months in two healthy subjects caused anorexia and a marked impairment of mental and physical health. In another study on two healthy subjects, an intake of 0.042 mg/MJ (0.175 mg/1,000 kcal) for 3 months was accompanied by the development of unspecific clinical signs suggestive of thiamin deficiency (Williams et al., 1943).

One study involved eight healthy young men (age not reported) who were hosted in a metabolic ward for 51 days and received a diet providing 11.71 MJ/day (2,800 kcal/day) and 0.110-0.180 mg thiamin/day (Ziporin et al., 1965a,b). The study was divided into three parts: a control period (thiamin intake 1.71–1.78 mg/day (~0.150 mg/MJ) for 9 days), a depletion period (0.110–0.180 mg/day (0.009–0.015 mg/MJ) for 30 days) and a 'low level' repletion period (0.540–0.610 mg/day (0.046–0.052 mg/MJ) for 12 days). Physical activity was performed ad libitum with attempts to minimise inter- and intra-individual variations. During depletion, unspecific subjective symptoms (e.g. general malaise, headache, nausea) and physical symptoms (sinus tachycardia at rest (3/8), diminution of muscle strength (2/8) and tendon reflexes (4/8)) developed gradually in five subjects, while three subjects remained asymptomatic throughout the study. Physical symptoms disappeared within 1 week of thiamin repletion, while subjective symptoms persisted for 2 weeks, and then gradually disappeared. A progressive decline in ETKA to about 75% of the baseline value was observed during the depletion period, while ETKA returned to baseline value after 1 week of repletion. The mean ( $\pm$  SD) urinary free thiamin excretion was 0.283  $\pm$  0.071 mg/24 h at the end of the control period and decreased to undetectable levels by 18 days of depletion. From then to the end of depletion, urinary excretion of thiamin metabolites (sum of pyrimidine and thiazole moieties) ranged from 0.884  $\pm$  0.217 to  $0.913 \pm 0.224$  mg/24 h. During repletion, small amounts (0.003–0.013 mg/24 h) of free thiamin were detected in urine samples, although not in all subjects. The authors assumed that continued excretion of thiamin metabolites during the depletion period indicates that tissue thiamin is used for metabolic purposes, and that metabolites represent a measure of depletion of the vitamin body stores. The authors defined thiamin requirement as the amount of thiamin which would at least equal the amount of metabolites excreted when there is no intact thiamin in the urine: (1) by subtracting 0.160 mg of thiamin ingested daily with the diet from a mean thiamin metabolites output of 0.913 mg/24 h during depletion, a thiamin requirement of 0.753 mg/day, corresponding to 0.064 mg/MJ (0.27 mg/1,000 kcal), was calculated; (2) by considering the total amount of thiamin metabolites excreted, a thiamin requirement of 0.913 mg/day, corresponding to 0.078 mg/MJ (0.33 mg/1,000 kcal), was proposed. The Panel notes that in this study the amount of thiamin required daily to replace the thiamin metabolites was 0.064–0.078 mg/MJ (0.27–0.33 mg/1,000 kcal).



In another study, six healthy adults (four men, two women, aged 22-27 years) were on a diet containing 0.035–0.239 mg thiamin/MJ (0.15–1 mg/1,000 kcal) for various time intervals during 9–10 months (Kraut et al., 1966). ETKA and urinary thiamin excretion were measured. A decrease of thiamin intake from 0.13 to 0.22 mg/MJ (0.54–0.92 mg/1,000 kcal) to 0.05–0.03 mg/MJ (0.15–0.21 mg/1,000 kcal) was associated with a drop in ETKA, and an increase in thiamin intake in the next study period to 0.07-0.09 mg/MJ enhanced ETKA up to levels similar to baseline. Urinary excretion of thiamin was in the range of 0.053–0.507 mg/24 h. Urinary thiamin excretion was linearly related to dietary thiamin intake (r = 0.9 calculated based on presented data). Subjects had a decreased physical capacity in the bicycle ergometer tests, and one subject complained about lack of concentration and muscle pain with rapid walking over short distances. Complaints disappeared with a thiamin intake of 0.074 mg/MJ. A thiamin intake of 0.07–0.09 mg/MJ resulted in enhanced urinary thiamin excretion, and a further rise in thiamin intake to 0.13-0.19 mg/MJ was associated with a sharp increase in urinary thiamin excretion, suggesting that an intake of 0.07-0.09 mg/MJ may represent the thiamin requirement. Measures of ETKA associated with a thiamin intake of 0.13–0.19 mg/MJ were similar to those observed with a thiamin intake of 0.07–0.09 mg/MJ. The Panel notes that maximum ETKA was observed at a daily thiamin intake of 0.17-0.22 mg/MJ. The Panel notes that in this study the measurement of different products to assess ETKA made the results difficult to interpret.

Bamji (1970) measured ETKA and urinary thiamin excretion (expressed in  $\mu g/g$  creatinine) in eight healthy Indian volunteers (four men, four women; age not reported) consuming an experimental diet providing 0.024 mg thiamin/MJ (0.1 mg/1,000 kcal) for 2-3 weeks (period I), and thereafter 0.048 mg/MJ (0.2 mg/1,000 kcal) and 0.096 mg/MJ (0.4 mg/1,000 kcal) for two 10-day periods (period II and III). An intake of 0.024 mg/MJ for 7 days resulted in ETKA decrease by 15%, and after 21 days by 32% in men and by 50% in women. A thiamin intake of 0.048 mg/MJ was associated with EKTA increase to about 88% of the baseline and at intake of 0.096 mg/MJ, EKTA activity was not lower than the baseline value. In men, a continuous decrease in urinary thiamin excretion was observed until about 25% of the baseline values at the end of period I, followed by an increase in periods II (up to 50% of the baseline values) and III (up to 140% of baseline values). In women, urinary thiamin excretion decreased to about 35% of the baseline values at the end of period I, with no apparent change in period II (about 30% of baseline values) and an increase to up to 82% of baseline values at the end of period III. In order to estimate thiamin requirement, the logarithm of dietary thiamin intake was plotted against ETKA or against urinary thiamin excretion. Tangents were drawn to the slopes and the points of insertion of these tangents were used to assess the requirement as the turning points at which ETKA had reached a plateau or a sharp increase in thiamin urinary excretion occurred. Based on urinary thiamin excretion, a requirement for thiamin of 0.063 mg/MJ (0.26 mg/1,000 kcal) for women and 0.075 mg/MJ (0.31 mg/1,000 kcal) for men was estimated. Based on ETKA, a thiamin requirement of 0.051 mg/MJ (0.21 mg/1,000 kcal) for women and 0.080 mg/MJ (0.34 mg/1,000 kcal) for men was derived. The Panel notes that these values were estimated from modelling data on a small number of subjects and uncertainties related to these estimates cannot be assessed from the paper. The Panel notes that in this study, a level of 0.048 mg thiamin/MJ was insufficient to restore baseline ETKA, while a level of 0.096 mg/MJ was associated with a sharp increase in urinary excretion.

In the study by Sauberlich et al. (1979), seven healthy men (age not reported) received a diet free of thiamin for 14 days (depletion period, I). They were then divided into two groups with different levels of energy intake (group A: 11.72 MJ/day (2,800 kcal/day) and group B: 15.06 MJ/day (3,600 kcal/day)). For successive periods of 11-14 days, subjects received controlled amounts of thiamin of 0.39 (period II), 0.56 (period III), 0.84 (period IV) and 0.84 or 1.08 mg/day (period V), corresponding to 0.033, 0.048, 0.072 and 0.072 mg/MJ for group A (n = 3), and 0.026, 0.038, 0.055 and 0.072 mg/MJ for group B (n =4), respectively. Finally, an *ad libitum* diet containing > 2 mg thiamin/day (> 0.143 mg/MJ) was provided to both groups (period VI). Constant body weight of the subjects was maintained by adjustment of scheduled daily physical activity and exercise. During periods I (no thiamin) and II (lowest thiamin intake), a progressive decline in urinary thiamin excretion was observed to about 0.025 mg/24 h in both groups. In periods III and IV, urinary thiamin excretion rose gradually in both groups but urinary thiamin excretion was significantly lower in group B than in group A. There was no difference in urinary thiamin excretion in period V, when both groups received 0.072 mg/MJ (mean  $\pm$  SD: 0.088  $\pm$  0.009 and 0.090  $\pm$  0.023 mg/24 h in groups A and B, respectively). Urinary thiamin excretion similar to baseline excretion was reached at the end of the study (0.258  $\pm$  0.010 and 0.302  $\pm$  0.076 mg/24 h in groups A and B, respectively). Mean baseline  $\alpha$ ETK level was about 1.02 for group A and 1.03 for group B. In both groups, similar increases in

mean  $\alpha$ ETK were observed during periods I–III, up to above 1.35. In group A, mean  $\alpha$ ETK decreased to 1.12 in period IV and 1.03 in period V, while in group B the respective figures were 1.22 and 1.07. This indicates that an intake of 0.055 mg/MJ for 11 days was insufficient to restore adequate thiamin status, while an intake of 0.072 mg/MJ was associated with an adequate status of the vitamin ( $\alpha$ ETK  $\leq$  1.15, see Section 2.4.2). During period VI (*ad libitum*), mean  $\alpha$ ETK in both groups was about 1.03. The Panel notes that, contrary to group A, a daily intake of 0.84 mg thiamin/day failed to restore normal  $\alpha$ ETK in group B, which indicates an increased requirement for thiamin when energy requirement is increased. The Panel notes that  $\alpha$ ETK returned to normal level (mean  $\alpha$ ETK about 1.03–1.07) at a thiamin intake of 0.072 mg/MJ and was associated with urinary thiamin excretion of about 0.09 mg/24 h. On an *ad libitum* diet providing > 0.14 mg thiamin/MJ, a sharp increase (to about 0.3 mg/24 h) of urinary thiamin excretion occurred, while only slight changes in  $\alpha$ ETK were noted.

#### 5.1.2. Observational studies

Several observational studies assessed thiamin intake, through dietary questionnaires, and biomarkers of thiamin status in adult populations, particularly older populations.

Using a 7-day dietary recall questionnaire, Anderson et al. (1986) reported a mean thiamin intake of about 0.12 mg/MJ (0.5 mg/1,000 kcal) in a group of 11 male and female adults (25–75 years) with  $\alpha$ ETK > 1.15 compared to about 0.14 mg/MJ (0.6 mg/1,000 kcal) in 31 men and women with  $\alpha$ ETK < 1.15. High prevalence (> 40%) of  $\alpha$ ETK > 1.15 were found in two studies which involved older subjects (≥ 65 years) with a mean thiamin intake around 0.19 mg/MJ (0.8 mg/1,000 kcal) (30 men and 30 women), assessed by a 3-day food record (Nichols and Basu, 1994) and 0.12 mg/MJ (0.5 mg/1,000 kcal) (80 women), assessed by four 24-h recall questionnaires (Smidt et al., 1991). The Panel notes that these studies included subjects with health issues and assessed a single biomarker.

In a study in subjects selected to be free of apparent disease,  $\alpha ETK < 15\%$  and similar erythrocyte total thiamin concentrations were found in groups of younger (19–37 years, n = 14) and older (70–82 years, n = 10) people with a thiamin intake around 0.17 mg/MJ (0.7 mg/1,000 kcal), assessed by a 3-day weighted record (O'Rourke et al., 1990). Lower ETKA was found in the older compared to the younger subjects (1,287 (1,163–1410) mU/g Hb vs 1,482 (1,320–1,645) mU/g Hb; p < 0.05). The authors noted that the actual thiamin intakes were likely to be lower than the estimated intakes as they were derived from food tables that might overestimate the true thiamin content of food by up to 30%.

The Panel notes the methodological limitations of these studies. The Panel considers that these studies do not provide data for deriving DRVs for thiamin in adults. The Panel also considers that these studies do not provide evidence for a different dietary requirement of thiamin in older compared to younger adults.

#### 5.1.3. Conclusions on indicators of thiamin requirements in adults

The Panel considers that results from the controlled experiment by Sauberlich et al. (1979) indicate a positive relationship between thiamin requirement and energy requirement.

The Panel notes that thiamin intake of 0.009–0.014 mg/MJ for about a week resulted in significant reduction in the urinary thiamin excretion and ETKA associated with the development of some unspecific clinical symptoms of thiamin deficiency (Ziporin et al., 1965a,b). The Panel also notes that thiamin intakes of 0.042–0.052 mg/MJ for some months were associated with clinical symptoms suggestive of thiamin deficiency (Williams et al., 1942, 1943).

The Panel considers that the study by Sauberlich et al. (1979) indicates a thiamin requirement of 0.072 mg/MJ for adult men because this thiamin intake was associated with low urinary thiamin excretion (around 0.09 mg/day) and  $\alpha$ ETK indicative of an adequate thiamin status (< 15%). The Panel also notes that, in this study, increasing the thiamin intake from 0.072 to  $\geq$  0.14 mg/MJ was associated with a sharp increase in urinary thiamin excretion and only slight changes in transketolase activity, indicating tissue saturation. The Panel notes that the depletion–repletion study by Kraut et al. (1966) supports this value. In this study, ETKA was restored with an intake of 0.13–0.19 mg/MJ without further change in ETKA. Based on similar criteria, the study by Bamji (1970) indicates that mean thiamin requirement is higher than 0.048 mg/MJ and lower than 0.096 mg/MJ, which is consistent with these findings. The Panel notes that these studies were performed in a small number of subjects and mean values of dietary thiamin intake, ETKA/ $\alpha$ ETK and urinary thiamin excretion were used to assess thiamin requirement.



The Panel also notes that maximum ETKA was observed at a daily thiamin intake of 0.17–0.22 mg/MJ (Kraut et al., 1966). The Panel considers that the biological significance of maximal stimulation of ETKA and whether it is required for adequate body function is not known.

#### 5.1.4. Infants and children

Some studies attempted to estimate thiamin requirement of infants (Holt et al., 1949) and children (Dick et al., 1958) based on the changes in urinary excretion of thiamin in response to controlled amounts of dietary thiamin. In these studies, the level of thiamin intake associated with 'minimal' urinary thiamin excretion was used as a criterion to define thiamin requirement. The Panel notes that a single biomarker was used in these studies, which does not reliably reflect thiamin status.

In an observational study in 19 boys and 35 girls aged 13–14 years in the UK, Bailey et al. (1994) assessed thiamin intake, based on 7-day weighed record and direct analysis of duplicate diets, and ETKA,  $\alpha$ ETK and total erythrocytes thiamin. Mean analysed thiamin intakes were 1.52 mg/day in girls and 1.95 mg/day in boys, corresponding to 0.88 mg/1,000 kcal in both groups. The average 7-day calculated thiamin intake was significantly lower than analysed intakes for both sexes. On an individual basis, calculated intakes ranged from 30% to 143% of corresponding analysed values. Mean (range)  $\alpha$ ETK were 1.07 (0.86–1.45) in girls and 1.05 (0.69–1.36) in boys. Mean (range) ETKA were 89.66 (54.5–165.74) mU/g Hb in girls and 90.08 (58.33–140.62) mU/g Hb in boys. Mean (range) total thiamin concentrations in erythrocytes were 226.8 (101.0–949.9) nmol/L in girls and 206.1 (119.7–445.7) nmol/L in boys. Overall, 30.8% of children had  $\alpha$ ETK  $\geq$  1.15, while 1.9% of children had an analysed thiamin intake and any of the markers measured. The Panel considers that no conclusion can be drawn from this study with respect to thiamin requirement in children.

The Panel considers that there are no studies which can be used for deriving requirement for thiamin in infants and children.

#### 5.1.5. Pregnant and lactating women

Some observational studies in pregnant women have reported high prevalence (20–40%) of  $\alpha$ ETK coefficient > 1.20, taken as indicative of an inadequate thiamin status (Heller et al., 1974; Vir et al., 1980), as well as decrease in ETKA and blood thiamin concentration during pregnancy (Dirige et al., 1978; Vir et al., 1980; Baker et al., 2002). One study found no correlations between  $\alpha$ ETK and the length, weight and head circumference of the newborns (Dirige et al., 1978). The Panel notes that thiamin intake was not reported in these studies and the cause (e.g. physiological changes, other determinants) and significance of these observations in pregnant women are unknown.

Ortega et al. (2004) examined the relationship between thiamin intake (assessed using a 5-day weighted dietary record) and  $\alpha ETK$  in 51 pregnant Spanish women (aged 18–35 years) in the third trimester. Thiamin concentration in their mature breast milk was also measured. About 13.7% of women had  $\alpha ETK > 1.25$ , used as a cut-off for thiamin deficiency. Women were divided between those who had thiamin intake > or < 0.4 mg/1,000 kcal + 0.1 mg per day.<sup>6</sup> Mean thiamin intakes of the respective groups were 1.45  $\pm$  0.38 mg/day and 0.87  $\pm$  0.13 mg/day. When expressed on a per MJ basis, mean thiamin intakes were similar in both groups (0.16  $\pm$  0.03 mg/MJ vs 0.14  $\pm$  0.04 mg/MJ). Mean  $\alpha ETK$  value was significantly lower in the first than in the second group (1.01  $\pm$  0.19 vs 1.21  $\pm$  0.30, p < 0.05). In the first group, 23.7% of women had  $\alpha ETK > 1.15$ , and 53.8% in the second group. Thiamin concentrations in mature breast milk were 157  $\pm$  117 µg/L and 66  $\pm$  19 µg/L in the respective groups (p < 0.05). The Panel notes that data are presented in aggregated form and that this study cannot be used to assess the level of thiamin intake which would be associated with adequate thiamin status.

The Panel considers that the available data on the relationship between thiamin intake and biomarkers of thiamin status in pregnancy cannot be used for deriving DRVs for thiamin in pregnancy. There are no data on the relationships between thiamin intake and biomarkers of thiamin status in lactating women.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Recommended intake for thiamin during pregnancy for the Spanish population Departamento de Nutricion, 1994. Ingestas Diarias Recomendadas de Energia y Nutrientes para la Poblacion Espanola [Recommended Energy and Nutrient Intakes for the Spanish Population] Departamento de Nutricion, Madrid, Spain.

#### 5.2. Thiamin intake and health consequences

A comprehensive search of the literature published between 1990 and 2011 was performed as a preparatory work to this assessment in order to identify new data on relevant health outcomes upon which DRVs for thiamin may potentially be based (El-Sohemy et al., 2012). An additional literature search (in Pubmed) was performed to identify new data published afterwards and until September 2016 on thiamin intake and health outcomes.

The relationship between thiamin intakes and health outcomes has been investigated in observational (case-control, cross-sectional, prospective cohort) studies, where an association between thiamin intake and health outcomes may be confounded by uncertainties inherent in the methodology used for the assessment of thiamin intakes and by the effect of other dietary, lifestyle or undefined factors on the health or disease outcomes investigated. No intervention studies are available on thiamin intake and health outcomes.

Available data on the relationship between thiamin intake and mortality (Huang et al., 2012), nuclear cataract (Cumming et al., 2000), squamous intraepithelial cervical lesions (Hernandez et al., 2003), glucose intolerance (Bakker et al., 1998) and premenstrual syndrome (Chocano-Bedoya et al., 2011) are limited and therefore cannot be used to derive DRVs for thiamin.

The relationship between dietary thiamin intake and cognitive function in healthy older adults was assessed in a review by Koh et al. (2015). Nine studies (two cohort studies and seven cross-sectional studies) were included. Among the cohort studies, one examined the relationship between thiamin intake and abstract reasoning and found a positive correlation (r = 0.29; p < 0.01); there was no significant correlation between thiamin intake and visuospatial skills or nonverbal learning and memory (La Rue et al., 1997). In the other cohort study by McNeill et al. (2011), no association was found between thiamin intake and measures of cognitive function. Among the cross-sectional studies, five reported a positive association between thiamin intake and measures of cognitive function (most commonly assessed by Mini Mental State Examination) (Nes et al., 1988; Ortega et al., 1997; Lee et al., 2001; Requejo et al., 2003; Aparicio Vizuete et al., 2010), while two found no association (Shatenstein et al., 2007; Katsiardanis et al., 2013). The Panel notes that there is no consistent evidence for an association between dietary intake of thiamin and cognitive function in healthy older people.

The Panel considers that available data on thiamin intake and health outcomes are either limited or inconsistent and cannot be used for deriving DRVs for thiamin.

#### **5.3.** Data on which to base dietary reference values

The Panel considers that data from depletion–repletion studies in adults on the amount of dietary thiamin intake associated with  $\alpha$ ETK < 1.15 or with the restoration of normal (baseline) ETKA, without a sharp increase in urinary thiamin excretion, can be used to estimate thiamin requirement (Section 5.1.1). The Panel considers that thiamin requirement is related to energy requirement (Sections 2.3.7 and 5.1.1) and decides to set DRVs on a per MJ basis. PRIs for thiamin of particular population groups, expressed in mg/day, can be estimated based on their respective energy requirements. The ARs for energy for various physical activity levels (PAL values) can be found in the Scientific Opinion on Dietary Reference Values for energy (EFSA NDA Panel, 2013). The Panel notes that, as for other nutrient reference values, DRVs for thiamin are set under the assumption that intakes of other essential nutrients and energy are adequate.

#### 5.4. Adults

The Panel considers that no additional scientific evidence has become available since the assessment of the SCF in 1993 which would require to reconsider the DRVs for thiamin set at that time. The Panel endorses the AR of 0.072 mg/MJ (0.3 mg/1,000 kcal) for all adults which was set by the SCF on the basis of the depletion–repletion study by Sauberlich et al. (1979). The Panel notes that the study from Sauberlich et al. (1979) involved a small number of men; however, the Panel considers that results from other depletion–repletion studies (Kraut et al., 1966; Bamji, 1970) are in agreement with this value. The Panel agrees on the coefficient of variation of 20% used by the SCF, to cover uncertainties related to the distribution of thiamin requirements in the general population, and endorses the population reference intake (PRI) of 0.1 mg/MJ (0.4 mg/1,000 kcal) proposed by the SCF for all adults (Table 4). No new evidence has become available that the relationship between thiamin



requirement and energy requirement differs between men and women, or between younger and older adults. PRIs for thiamin, expressed in mg/day, are presented in Appendix H.

#### 5.5. Infants

For infants aged 7–11 months, the Panel assumes that the relationship between thiamin requirement and energy requirement does not differ from that of adults. Therefore, the AR and PRI, expressed as mg/MJ, for adults are applied (Table 4). PRIs for children, expressed in mg/day, are presented in Appendix I.

#### 5.6. Children

For children, the Panel assumes that the relationship between thiamin requirement and energy requirement does not differ from that of adults. Therefore, the AR and PRI, expressed as mg/MJ, for adults are applied (Table 4). PRIs for children, expressed in mg/day, are presented in Appendix J.

#### 5.7. Pregnancy

The Panel assumes that the relationship between thiamin requirement and energy requirement in pregnancy does not differ from that of other adults. Therefore, the AR and PRI, expressed as mg/MJ, for adults apply to pregnancy (Table 4). The Panel notes that the energy requirement in pregnant women is increased by 0.29, 1.1 and 2.1 MJ/day, for the first, second and third trimesters, respectively (EFSA NDA Panel, 2013). The PRI for thiamin of pregnant women, in mg/day, is increased compared with that of non-pregnant women, as presented in Appendix K.

#### 5.8. Lactation

The Panel assumes that the relationship between thiamin requirement and energy requirement in lactating women does not differ from that of other adults. Therefore, the AR and PRI, expressed as mg/MJ, for adults apply to lactation (Table 4). The Panel notes that the energy requirement in lactation is increased by 2.1 MJ/day (EFSA NDA Panel, 2013). An average loss of thiamin in breast milk of 0.15 mg/day was estimated during the first six month of lactation (Section 2.3.5.4). The Panel considers that the extra requirement for thiamin calculated on the basis of the increased energy requirement related to lactation covers the losses of thiamin through breast milk. The PRI for thiamin of lactating women, in mg/day, is increased compared with that of non-lactating women, as presented in Appendix K.

#### Conclusions

The Panel concludes that no new scientific data have become available that would require to change the population reference intake (PRI) for thiamin set by the SCF in 1993. The Panel sets a PRI for thiamin of 0.1 mg/MJ (0.4 mg/1,000 kcal) for all population groups (Table 4).

Age	PRI (mg/MJ)
7–11 months	0.1
1–3 years	0.1
4–6 years	0.1
7–10 years	0.1
11–14 years	0.1
15–17 years	0.1
$\geq$ 18 years <sup>(a)</sup>	0.1

**Table 4:** Summary of dietary reference values for thiamin

PRI: population reference intake.

(a): including pregnancy and lactation.



#### **Recommendations for research**

The Panel recommends:

- studies to characterise the relationship between thiamin intake and the most informative combination of biomarkers of thiamin status, in different life stages;
- further investigations of the dose-response relationships between thiamin intake and individual biomarkers;
- further research on the use of erythrocyte TDP concentration as a marker of thiamin intake and status;
- further research on the effect of diet composition (e.g. carbohydrates) on the thiamin requirement;
- further research on the relationship between thiamin requirement and energy requirement.

#### References

- Abdou E and Hazell AS, 2015. Thiamine deficiency: an update of pathophysiologic mechanisms and future therapeutic considerations. Neurochemical Research, 40, 353–361.
- Afssa (Agence française de sécurité sanitaire des aliments), 2001. Apports nutritionnels conseillés pour la population française. Editions Tec & Doc, Paris, France. 605 pp.
- Afssa (Agence française de sécurité sanitaire des aliments), 2009. Étude Individuelle Nationale des Consommations Alimentaires 2 (INCA 2) (2006–2007). Rapport. 228 pp.
- Ahmed F, Bamji MS and Iyengar L, 1975. Effect of oral contraceptive agents on vitamin nutrition status. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 28, 606–615.
- Alexander B, 1943. The chemical determination of thiamine and cocarboxylase in biological material. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 151, 455–465.
- Alexander B and Landwehr G, 1946. Studies of thiamine metabolism in Man. I. Thiamine balance. The normal requirement of vitamin B(1) and the role of fecal thiamine in human nutrition. Journal of Clinical Investigation, 25, 287–293.
- Alexander B, Landwehr G and Mitchell F, 1946. Studies of thiamine metabolism in Man. II. Thiamine and pyrimidine excretion with special reference to the relationship between injected and excreted thiamine in normal and abnormal subjects. Journal of Clinical Investigation, 25, 294–303.
- Allen JC, Keller RP, Archer P and Neville MC, 1991. Studies in human lactation: milk composition and daily secretion rates of macronutrients in the first year of lactation. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 54, 69–80.
- Amcoff E, Edberg A, Enghardt Barbieri H, Lindroos A, Nälsén C, Pearson M and Warensjö Lemming E (Livsmedelsverket), 2012. Riksmaten vuxna 2010–11. Livsmedels- och näringsintag bland vuxna i Sverige. Resultat från matvaneundersökning utförd 2010–11. 180 pp.
- Anderson SH, Charles TJ and Nicol AD, 1985. Thiamine deficiency at a district general hospital: report of five cases. Quarterly Journal of Medicine, 55, 15–32.
- Anderson SH, Vickery CA and Nicol AD, 1986. Adult thiamine requirements and the continuing need to fortify processed cereals. Lancet, 2, 85–89.
- Aparicio Vizuete A, Robles F, Rodriguez-Rodriguez E, Lopez-Sobaler AM and Ortega RM, 2010. Association between food and nutrient intakes and cognitive capacity in a group of institutionalized elderly people. European Journal of Nutrition, 49, 293–300.
- Ariaey-Nejad MR, Balaghi M, Baker EM and Sauberlich HE, 1970. Thiamin metabolism in man. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 23, 764–778.
- Asciutti-Moura LS, Guilland JC, Fuchs F and Richard D, 1993. Vitamin E, C, thiamin, riboflavin and vitamin B-6 status of institutionalized elderly including the effects of supplementation. Nutrition Research, 13, 1379–1392.
- Bagchi K and Bose AK, 1962. Effect of low nutrient intake during pregnancy on obstetrical performance and offspring. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 11, 586–592.
- Bailey AL, Finglas PM, Wright AJ and Southon S, 1994. Thiamin intake, erythrocyte transketolase (EC 2.2.1.1) activity and total erythrocyte thiamin in adolescents. British Journal of Nutrition, 72, 111–125.
- Baines M and Davies G, 1988. The evaluation of erythrocyte thiamin diphosphate as an indicator of thiamin status in man, and its comparison with erythrocyte transketolase activity measurements. Annals of Clinical Biochemistry, 25, 698–705.
- Baker H, DeAngelis B, Holland B, Gittens-Williams L and Barrett T Jr, 2002. Vitamin profile of 563 gravidas during trimesters of pregnancy. Journal of the American College of Nutrition, 21, 33–37.
- Bakker SJ, Hoogeveen EK, Nijpels G, Kostense PJ, Dekker JM, Gans RO and Heine RJ, 1998. The association of dietary fibres with glucose tolerance is partly explained by concomitant intake of thiamine: the Hoorn Study. Diabetologia, 41, 1168–1175.



- Balk E, Chung M, Raman G, Tatsioni A, Chew P, Ip S, DeVine D and Lau J, 2006. B vitamins and berries and agerelated neurodegenerative disorders. Evidence Report/Technology Assessment Number 134, prepared for the US Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality, 134, 161 pp. Available online: https://archive.ahrq.gov/ downloads/pub/evidence/pdf/berry/berry.pdf
- Ball GFM, 2005. Vitamins in foods: analysis, bioavailability, and stability. CRC Press, USA.
- Bamji MS, 1970. Transketolase activity and urinary excretion of thiamin in the assessment of thiamin-nutrition status of Indians. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 23, 52–58.
- Bamji MS, 1976. Enzymic evaluation of thiamin, riboflavin and pyridoxine status of parturient women and their newborn infants. British Journal of Nutrition, 35, 259–265.
- Banhidi Z, 1958. Some aspects of the nutrition of Lactobacillus fermenti 36 in the tube assay of thiamine. Acta Chemica Scandinavica, 12, 517–527.
- Bates B, Lennox A, Prentice A, Bates C and Swan G, 2012. National Diet and Nutrition Survey. Headline results from Years 1, 2 and 3 (combined) of the Rolling Programme (2008/2009 2010/11). A survey carried out on behalf of the Department of Health and the Food Standards Agency. 79 pp.
- Bates B, Lennox A, Prentice A, Bates C, Page P, Nicholson S and Swan G, 2014. National Diet and Nutrition Survey Results from Years 1, 2, 3 and 4 (combined) of the Rolling Programme (2008/2009 – 2011/2012). A survey carried out on behalf of Public Health England and the Food Standards Agency. 158 pp.
- Beal VA, 1955. Nutritional intake of children. III. Thiamine, riboflavin and niacin. Journal of Nutrition, 57, 183–192.
- Bemeur C and Biutterworth RF, 2014. Thiamin. In: . Ross AC, Caballero B, Cousins RJ, Tucker KL, Ziegler TR (ed.). Modern nutrition in health and disease. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, Philadelphia, USA. pp. 317–324.
- Bender, 2003. Nutritional biochemistry of the vitamins. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK.
- Bentreud A, 1977. Vitamin losses during thermal processing. In: Hoyem T, Kvale O (eds.). *Physical, chemical and biological changes in food caused by thermal processing*. Applied Science Publishers Limited, London, UK. 185 pp.
- van den Berg H and Bruinse HW, 1983. *On the role of nutrition in normal human pregnancy*. Utrecht Rijksuniversiteit, Proefschrift.
- Bettendorff L and Wins P, 2009. Thiamin diphosphate in biological chemistry: new aspects of thiamin metabolism, especially triphosphate derivatives acting other than as cofactors. FEBS Journal, 276, 2917–2925.
- Bettendorff L, Kolb HA and Schoffeniels E, 1993. Thiamine triphosphate activates an anion channel of large unit conductance in neuroblastoma cells. Journal of Membrane Biology, 136, 281–288.
- Bettendorff L, Lakaye B, Kohn G and Wins P, 2014. Thiamine triphosphate: a ubiquitous molecule in search of a physiological role. Metabolic Brain Disease, 29, 1069–1082.
- Bowles CH, 1979. Voedingsgewoonten en gezondheidsaspecten van bejaarden in een Rotterdamse huisartspraktijk 1971–1975. Leiden Rijksuniversiteit, Proefschrift. 140 pp.
- Boyden RE and Erikson SE, 1966. Metabolic patterns in preadolescent children. Thiamine utilization in relation to nitrogen intake. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 19, 398–406.
- Brin M, 1962. Erythrocyte transketolase in early thiamine deficiency. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 98, 528–541.
- Brin M, 1964. Erythrocyte as a biopsy tissue for functional evaluation of thiamine adequacy. Journal of the American Medical Association, 187, 762–766.
- Brough L, Rees GA and Crawford MA, 2007. Thiamin status during pregnancy and pregnancy outcome. Proceedings of the Nutrition Society of New Zealand, 32, 158–163.

Brown G, 2014. Defects of thiamine transport and metabolism. Journal of Inherited Metabolic Disease, 37, 577–585.

- Butte NF and King JC, 2002. Energy requirements during pregnancy and lactation. Energy background paper prepared for the joint FAO/WHO/UNU Consultation on Energy in Human Nutrition.
- Butte NF, Lopez-Alarcon MG and Garza C, 2002. Nutrient adequacy of exclusive breastfeeding for the term infant during the first six months of life. World Health Organization, 57 pp.
- Ceccanti M, Mancinelli R, Sasso GF, Allen JP, Binetti R, Mellini A, Attilia F, Toppo L and Attilia ML, 2005. Erythrocyte thiamine (Th) esters: a major factor of the alcohol withdrawal syndrome or a candidate marker for alcoholism itself? Alcohol and Alcoholism, 40, 283–290.
- Chandra RK, 1984. Physical growth of exclusively breast-fed infants. Nutrition Research, 2, 275–276.
- Chocano-Bedoya PO, Manson JE, Hankinson SE, Willett WC, Johnson SR, Chasan-Taber L, Ronnenberg AG, Bigelow C and Bertone-Johnson ER, 2011. Dietary B vitamin intake and incident premenstrual syndrome. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 93, 1080–1086.
- Chong YH and Ho GS, 1970. Erythrocyte transketolase activity. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 23, 261–266.
- Clydesdale FM, Ho CT, Lee CY, Mondy NI and Shewfelt RL, 1991. The effects of postharvest treatment and chemical interactions on the bioavailability of ascorbic acid, thiamin, vitamin A, carotenoids, and minerals. Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition, 30, 599–638.
- Coats D, Frank EL, Reid JM, Ou K, Chea M, Khin M, Preou C, Enders FT, Fischer PR and Topazian M, 2013. Thiamine pharmacokinetics in Cambodian mothers and their breastfed infants. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 98, 839–844.
- Combs, 1992. The vitamins: fundamental aspects in nutrition and health. Academic Press, San Diego, California.

Combs, 2008. The vitamins: fundamental aspects in nutrition and health. Elsevier Academic Press, Boston.



Committee on Nutrition, 1985. Composition of human milk: normative data. In: Forbes GB and Woodruff CW (eds.). *Pediatric nutrition handbook*. American Academy of Pediatrics, Elk Grove Village, USA. pp. 363–368.

Crook MA and Sriram K, 2014. Thiamine deficiency: the importance of recognition and prompt management. Nutrition, 30, 953–954.

- Cumming RG, Mitchell P and Smith W, 2000. Diet and cataract The Blue Mountains Eye Study. Ophthalmology, 107, 450–456.
- D-A-CH (Deutsche Gesellschaft für Ernährung, Österreichische Gesellschaft für Ernährung, Schweizerische Gesellschaft für Ernährung), 2015. Referenzwerte für die Nährstoffzufuhr. 2. Auflage, 1. Ausgabe. DGE, Bonn, Germany.

Damodaran S, Parkin KL and Fennema OR, 2007. Fennema's Food Chemistry. CRC Press, USA.

- Datjm K, Tuttle WW, Wilson M and Rhodes H, 1948. Influence of various levels of thiamine intake on physiologic response; urinary excretion of thiamine. Journal of the American Dietetic Association, 24, 1049–1053.
- Davis RE, Icke GC, Thom J and Riley WJ, 1984. Intestinal absorption of thiamin in man compared with folate and pyridoxal and its subsequent urinary excretion. Journal of Nutritional Science and Vitaminology, 30, 475–482.
- Denko CW, Grundy WE, Wheeler NC, Henderson CR, Berryman GH, Friedemann TE and Youmans JB, 1946. The excretion of B-complex vitamins by normal adults on a restricted intake. Archives of Biochemistry, 11, 109–117.
- Departamento de Nutricion, 1994. Ingestas Diarias Recomendadas de Energia y Nutrientes para la Poblacion Espanola [Recommended Energy and Nutrient Intakes for the Spanish Population] Departamento de Nutricion, Madrid, Spain.
- DH (Department of Health), 1991. Dietary reference values for food energy and nutrients for the United Kingdom. Report of the Panel on Dietary Reference Values of the Committee on Medical Aspects of Food Policy. HMSO, London, UK, 212 pp.
- DHSS (Department of Health and Social Security), 1977. *The composition of mature human milk*. HMSO, Reports on healh and social subjects No 18.
- DHSS (Department of Health and Social Security), 1979. Report on health and social subjects. Nutrition and health in old age. Report by the Committee on Medical Aspects and Food Policy. HMSO.
- Diaz GA, Banikazemi M, Oishi K, Desnick RJ and Gelb BD, 1999. Mutations in a new gene encoding a thiamine transporter cause thiamine-responsive megaloblastic anaemia syndrome. Nature Genetics, 22, 309–312.
- Dick EC, Chen SD, Bert M and Smith JM, 1958. Thiamine requirement of eight adolescent boys, as estimated from urinary thiamine excretion. Journal of Nutrition, 66, 173–188.
- Dirige OV, Jacob M, Ostergard N and Hunt I, 1978. Apoenzyme activities of erythrocyte transketolase, glutathione reductase, and glutamic-pyruvic transaminase during pregnancy. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 31, 202–205.
- van Dokkum W, Schrijver J and Wesstra JA, 1990. Variability in man of the levels of some indices of nutritional status over a 60-d period on a constant diet. European Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 44, 665–674.
- Dostalova L, Salmenpera L, Vaclavikova V, Heinz-Erian P and Schuep W, 1988. Vitamin concentrations in term milk of European mothers. In: Berger H (ed.). *Vitamins and minerals in pregnancy and lactation. Nestlé Nutrition Workshop Series, vol 16.* Raven Press, New York, USA. pp. 275–298.
- Duffy P, Morris H and Neilson G, 1981. Thiamin status of a Melanesian population. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 34, 1584–1592.
- Dyckner T, Ek B, Nyhlin H and Wester PO, 1985. Aggravation of thiamine deficiency by magnesium depletion. A case report. Acta Medica Scandinavica, 218, 129–131.
- EFSA (European Food Safety Authority), 2011a. Use of the EFSA Comprehensive European Food Consumption Database in exposure assessment. EFSA Journal 2011;9(3):2097, 34 pp. doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2011.2097
- EFSA (European Food Safety Authority), 2011b. Report on the development of a food classification and description system for exposure assessment and guidance on its implementation and use. EFSA Journal 2011;9(12):2489, 84 pp. doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2011.2489
- EFSA NDA Panel (EFSA Panel on Dietetic Products, Nutrition and Allergies), 2009. Scientific Opinion on the appropriate age for introduction of complementary feeding of infants. EFSA Journal 2009;7(12):1423, 38 pp. doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2009.1423
- EFSA NDA Panel (EFSA Panel on Dietetic Products Nutrition and Allergies), 2013. Scientific Opinion on Dietary Reference Values for energy. EFSA Journal 2013;11(1):3005, 112 pp. doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2013.3005
- Elmadfa I, Majchrzak D, Rust P and Genser D, 2001. The thiamine status of adult humans depends on carbohydrate intake. International Journal for Vitamin and Nutrition Research, 71, 217–221.
- El-Sohemy A, Xanthakos H, Beaulieu F, Allaire L and Fournier V, 2012. Literature search and review related to specific preparatory work in the establishment of Dietary References Values for thiamin, pantothenic acid and choline. Project developed on the procurement project CFT/EFSA/NUTRI/2011/01 (Lot 1). EFSA Supporting publication. 229 pp.
- Elsom KOS, Reinhold JG, Nicholson JT and Chornock C, 1942. Studies of the B vitamins in the human subject: V. The normal requirement for thiamine; some factors influencing its utilization and excretion. The American Journal of the Medical Sciences, 203, 569–577.



- FAO/WHO/UNU (Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations/World Health Organization/United Nations University), 2004. Human energy requirements. Report of a Joint FAO/WHO/UNU Expert Consultation: Rome, 17–24 October 2001. FAO food and nutrition technical report series, 103 pp.
- Fattal-Valevski A, Kesler A, Sela BA, Nitzan-Kaluski D, Rotstein M, Mesterman R, Toledano-Alhadef H, Stolovitch C, Hoffmann C, Globus O and Eshel G, 2005. Outbreak of life-threatening thiamine deficiency in infants in Israel caused by a defective soy-based formula. Pediatrics, 115, e233–e238.
- Fayol V, 1997. High-performance liquid chromatography determination of total thiamin in biological and food products. Methods in Enzymology, 279, 57–66.
- Fidanza F, Simonetti MS, Floridi A, Codini M and Fidanza R, 1989. Comparison of methods for thiamin and riboflavin nutriture in man. International Journal for Vitamin and Nutrition Research, 59, 40–47.

Finglas PM, 1993. Thiamin. International Journal for Vitamin and Nutrition Research, 63, 270–274.

- Fogelholm M, Rehunen S, Gref CG, Laakso JT, Lehto J, Ruokonen I and Himberg JJ, 1992. Dietary intake and thiamin, iron, and zinc status in elite Nordic skiers during different training periods. International Journal of Sport Nutrition, 2, 351–365.
- Foltz E, Barborka C and Ivy A, 1944. The level of vitamin B-complex in the diet at which detectable symptoms of deficiency occur in man. Gastroenterology, 2, 323.
- Fomon SJ and McCormick DB, 1993. B vitamins and choline. In: Craven L (ed.). *Nutrition of normal infants*. Mosby Year Book Inc, St Louis, USA. pp. 366–394.
- Ford JE, Zechalko A, Murphy J and Brooke OG, 1983. Comparison of the B vitamin composition of milk from mothers of preterm and term babies. Archives of Disease in Childhood, 58, 367–372.

Frank LL, 2015. Thiamin in clinical practice. Journal of Parenteral and Enteral Nutrition, 39, 503–520.

- Friedemann TE, Kmieciak TC, Keegan PK and Sheft BB, 1948. The absorption, destruction, and excretion of orally administered thiamin by human subjects. Gastroenterology, 11, 100–114.
- Fukuwatari T and Shibata K, 2008. Urinary water-soluble vitamins and their metabolite contents as nutritional markers for evaluating vitamin intakes in young Japanese women. Journal of Nutritional Science and Vitaminology, 54, 223–229.
- Gangolf M, Czerniecki J, Radermecker M, Detry O, Nisolle M, Jouan C, Martin D, Chantraine F, Lakaye B, Wins P, Grisar T and Bettendorff L, 2010. Thiamine status in humans and content of phosphorylated thiamine derivatives in biopsies and cultured cells. PLoS ONE, 5, e13616.
- Gans DA and Harper AE, 1991. Thiamin status of incarcerated and nonincarcerated adolescent males: dietary intake and thiamin pyrophosphate response. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 53, 1471–1475.
- Gui QP, Zhao WQ and Wang LN, 2006. Wernicke's encephalopathy in nonalcoholic patients: clinical and pathologic features of three cases and literature reviewed. Neuropathology, 26, 231–235.
- Hanninen SA, Darling PB, Sole MJ, Barr A and Keith ME, 2006. The prevalence of thiamin deficiency in hospitalized patients with congestive heart failure. Journal of the American College of Cardiology, 47, 354–361.
- Harper CG, Giles M and Finlay-Jones R, 1986. Clinical signs in the Wernicke-Korsakoff complex: a retrospective analysis of 131 cases diagnosed at necropsy. Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery and Psychiatry, 49, 341–345.
- Hart SMM and Reynolds MS, 1957. Thiamine requirement of adolescent girls. Journal of Home Economics, 49, 35–37.
- Hathaway ML and Strom JE, 1946. A comparison of thiamine synthesis and excretion in human subjects on synthetic and natural diets. Journal of Nutrition, 32, 1–8.
- Health Council of the Netherlands, 2000. Dietary reference intakes: calcium, vitamin D, thiamin, riboflavin, niacin, pantothenic acid, and biotin. 180 pp.
- Helldán A, Raulio S, Kosola M, Tapanainen H, Ovaskainen ML and Virtanen S, 2013. Finravinto 2012 tutkimus -The National FINDIET 2012 Survey. THL. Raportti 16/2013, 217 pp.
- Heller S, Salkeld RM and Korner WF, 1974. Vitamin B1 status in pregnancy. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 27, 1221–1224.
- Hennessy DJ, 1942. A standard thiochrome assay for the determination of thiamin in cereal products. Cereal Chemistry, 2, 25–29.
- Hennessy DJ and Cerecedo LR, 1939. The determination of free and phosphorylated thiamin by a modified thiochrome assay. Journal of the American Chemical Society, 61, 179–183.
- Henshaw JL, Noakes G, Morris SO, Bennion M and Gubler CJ, 1970. Method for evaluating thiamine adequacy in college women. Journal of the American Dietetic Association, 57, 436–441.
- Hernandez BY, McDuffie K, Wilkens LR, Kamemoto L and Goodman MT, 2003. Diet and premalignant lesions of the cervix: evidence of a protective role for folate, riboflavin, thiamin, and vitamin B12. Cancer Causes and Control, 14, 859–870.
- Heseker HR, Schneider KJ, Moch KJ, Kohlmeier M and Kübler W, 1992. Vitaminversorgung Erwachsener in der Bundesrepublik Deutschland. VERA-Schriftenreihe Band IV Wissenschaftlicher Fachverlag Dr. Fleck, Niederkleen, Germany.
- Hilker DM and Somogyi JC, 1982. Antithiamins of plant origin: their chemical nature and mode of action. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 378, 137–145.



- Hiraoka M, 2001. Nutritional status of vitamin A, E, C, B1, B2, B6, nicotinic acid, B12, folate, and beta-carotene in young women. Journal of Nutritional Science and Vitaminology, 47, 20–27.
- Hofvander Y, Hagman U, Hillervik C and Sjolin S, 1982. The amount of milk consumed by 1-3 months old breastor bottle-fed infants. Acta Paediatrica Scandinavica, 71, 953–958.
- Hollman PC, Slangen JH, Wagstaffe PJ, Faure U, Southgate DA and Finglas PM, 1993. Intercomparison of methods for the determination of vitamins in foods. Part 2. Water-soluble vitamins. Analyst, 118, 481–488.
- Holt LE Jr, Nemir RL, Snyderman SE, Albanese AA, Ketron KC, Guy LP and Carretero R, 1949. The thiamine requirement of the normal infant. Journal of Nutrition, 37, 53–66.
- Hoofdgroep Voeding en Voedingsmiddelen TNO, 1986. Onderzoek naar de voeding en voedingstoestand van ogenschijnlijk gezonde, zelfstandig wonende mensen van 65 tot 80 jaar. Rapport V 86.466. Zeist, CIVO Instituten TNO.
- Hoorn RK, Flikweert JP and Westerink D, 1975. Vitamin B-1, B-2 and B-6 deficiencies in geriatric patients, measured by coenzyme stimulation of enzyme activities. Clinica Chimica Acta, 61, 151–162.
- Hoppu U, Lehtisalo J, Kujala J, Keso T, Garam S, Tapanainen H, Uutela A, Laatikainen T, Rauramo U and Pietinen P, 2010. The diet of adolescents can be improved by school intervention. Public Health Nutrition, 13, 973–979.
- Horwitt MK and Kreisler O, 1949. The determination of early thiamine-deficient states by estimation of blood lactic and pyruvic acids after glucose administration and exercise. Journal of Nutrition, 37, 411–427.
- Horwitt MK, Liebert E, Kreisler O and Wittman P, 1948. Investigations of human requirements for B-complex vitamins. Bulletin of the National Research Council No.116. Report of the Committee on Nutritional Aspect of Ageing. Food and Nutrition Board, Division of Biology and Agriculture. National Academy of Sciences, 106 pp.
- Hoympa AM Jr, 1982. Characterization of normal intestinal thiamine transport in animals and man. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 378, 337–343.
- Hoympa AM, Breen KJ, Schenker S and Wilson FA, 1975. Thiamine transport across the rat intestine. II. Effect of ethanol. Journal of Laboratory and Clinical Medicine, 86, 803–816.
- Hoympa AM Jr, Strickland R, Sheehan JJ, Yanorough G and Nichols S, 1982. Dual system of intestinal thiamine transport in humans. Journal of Laboratory and Clinical Medicine, 99, 701–708.
- Huang YC, Lee MS and Wahlqvist ML, 2012. Prediction of all-cause mortality by B group vitamin status in the elderly. Clinical Nutrition, 31, 191–198.
- Hulshof KFAM, Kistemaker C and Bouma M, 1998. De inname van energie en voedingsstoffen door de Nederlandse bevolkingsgroepen Voedselconsumptiepeiling 1997–1998. TNO-rapport V98.805.
- Icke GC and Nicol DJ, 1994. Thiamin status in pregnancy as determined by direct microbiological assay. International Journal for Vitamin and Nutrition Research, 64, 33–35.
- Ihara H, Hirano A, Wang L, Okada M and Hashizume N, 2005. Reference values for whole blood thiamine and thiamine phosphate esters in Japanese adults. Journal of Analytical Bio-Science, 28, 241–246.
- IOM (Institute of Medicine), 1998. Dietary Reference Intakes for thiamin, riboflavin, niacin, vitamin B6, folate, vitamin b12, pantothenic acid, biotin, and choline. Food and Nutrition Board. National Academy Press, Washington, DC, USA, 591 pp.
- IUNA (Irish Universities Nutrition Alliance), 2011. National Adult Nutrition Survey. Summary Report March 2011, 37 pp.
- Jung E, Han K and Choi M, 2003. Nutritional status of thiamin in elementary school children living in rural areas of Chungbuk. Journal of Community Nutrition, 5, 127–131.
- Kabat GC, Miller AB, Jain M and Rohan TE, 2008. Dietary intake of selected B vitamins in relation to risk of major cancers in women. British Journal of Cancer, 99, 816–821.
- Katsiardanis K, Diamantaras AA, Dessypris N, Michelakos T, Anastasiou A, Katsiardani KP, Kanavidis P, Papadopoulos FC, Stefanadis C, Panagiotakos DB and Petridou ET, 2013. Cognitive impairment and dietary habits among elders: the Velestino Study. Journal of Medicinal Food, 16, 343–350.
- Kawai C, Wakabayashi A, Matsumura T and Yui Y, 1980. Reappearance of beriberi heart disease in Japan. A study of 23 cases. American Journal of Medicine, 69, 383–386.
- Kersting M and Clausen K, 2003. Ernährungsphysiologische Auswertung einer repräsentativen Verzehrsstudie bei Säuglingen und Kleinkindern VELS mit dem Instrumentarium der DONALD Studie. Forschungsinstitut für Kinderernährung, Dortmund, Germany, 103 pp.
- Key TJ, Appleby PN, Masset G, Brunner EJ, Cade JE, Greenwood DC, Stephen AM, Kuh D, Bhaniani A, Powell N and Khaw KT, 2012. Vitamins, minerals, essential fatty acids and colorectal cancer risk in the United Kingdom Dietary Cohort Consortium. International Journal of Cancer, 131, E320–E325.
- Kochetov GA, 1982. Transketolase from yeast, rat liver, and pig liver. In: Willis AW (ed.). *Methods in Enzymology*. Academic Press, New York, USA. pp. 209–223.
- Koh F, Charlton K, Walton K and McMahon AT, 2015. Role of dietary protein and thiamine intakes on cognitive function in healthy older people: a systematic review. Nutrients, 7, 2415–2439.
- Kono S, Miyajima H, Yoshida K, Togawa A, Shirakawa K and Suzuki H, 2009. Mutations in a thiamine-transporter gene and Wernicke's-like encephalopathy. New England Journal of Medicine, 360, 1792–1794.
- Kopelman MD, Thomson AD, Guerrini I and Marshall EJ, 2009. The Korsakoff syndrome: clinical aspects, psychology and treatment. Alcohol and Alcoholism, 44, 148–154.



- Kositawattanakul T, Tosukhowong P, Vimokesant SL and Panijpan B, 1977. Chemical interactions between thiamin and tannic acid. II. Separation of products. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 30, 1686–1691.
- Kraut H, Wildemann L and Bohm M, 1966. Studies of human thiamine requirements. Internationale Zeitschrift fur Vitaminforschung (International Journal of Vitamin Research), 36, 157–193.
- Kuriyama M, Yokomine R, Arima H, Hamada R and Igata A, 1980. Blood vitamin B1, transketolase and thiamine pyrophosphate (TPP) effect in beriberi patients, with studies employing discriminant analysis. Clinica Chimica Acta, 108, 159–168.
- Kyttälä P, Erkkola M, Kronberg-Kippila C, Tapanainen H, Veijola R, Simell O, Knip M and Virtanen SM, 2010. Food consumption and nutrient intake in Finnish 1-6-year-old children. Public Health Nutrition, 13, 947–956.
- La Rue A, Koehler KM, Wayne SJ, Chiulli SJ, Haaland KY and Garry PJ, 1997. Nutritional status and cognitive functioning in a normally aging sample: a 6-y reassessment. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 65, 20–29.
- Laforenza U, Patrini C, Alvisi C, Faelli A, Licandro A and Rindi G, 1997. Thiamine uptake in human intestinal biopsy specimens, including observations from a patient with acute thiamine deficiency. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 66, 320–326.
- Laschi-Loquerie A, Vallas S, Viollet J, Leclercq M and Fayol V, 1992. High performance liquid chromatographic determination of total thiamine in biological and food products. International Journal for Vitamin and Nutrition Research, 62, 248–251.
- LASER Analytica, 2014. Comprehensive literature search and review of breast milk composition as preparatory work for the setting of dietary reference values for vitamins and minerals. EFSA supporting publication 2014: EN-629,154 pp.
- Lee L, Kang SA, Lee HO, Lee BH, Park JS, Kim JH, Jung IK, Park YJ and Lee JE, 2001. Relationships between dietary intake and cognitive function level in Korean elderly people. Public Health, 115, 133–138.
- Lewis CM and King JC, 1980. Effect of oral contraceptives agents on thiamin, riboflavin, and pantothenic acid status in young women. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 33, 832–838.
- Lockhart HS, Kirkwood S and Harris RS, 1943. The effect of pregnancy and puerperium on the thiamine status of women. American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology, 46, 358–365.
- Lonsdale D, 2007. Three case reports to illustrate clinical applications in the use of erythrocyte transketolase. Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine, 4, 247–250.
- Lonsdale D, 2012. Thiamin(e): the spark of life. Sub-Cellular Biochemistry, 56, 199–227.
- Lu J and Frank EL, 2008. Rapid HPLC measurement of thiamine and its phosphate esters in whole blood. Clinical Chemistry, 54, 901–906.
- Lu'o'ng K and Nguyen LT, 2011. Role of thiamine in Alzheimer's disease. American Journal of Alzheimer's Disease and Other Dementias, 26, 588–598.
- Lynch PL and Young IS, 2000. Determination of thiamine by high-performance liquid chromatography. Journal of Chromatography A, 881, 267–284.
- Malara M, Hubner-Wozniak E and Lewandowska I, 2013. Assessment of intake and nutritional status of vitamin b1, b2, and b6 in men and women with different physical activity levels. Biology of Sport, 30, 117–123.
- Mancinelli R, Ceccanti M, Guiducci MS, Sasso GF, Sebastiani G, Attilia ML and Allen JP, 2003. Simultaneous liquid chromatographic assessment of thiamine, thiamine monophosphate and thiamine diphosphate in human erythrocytes: a study on alcoholics. Journal of Chromatography B, Analytical Technologies in the Biomedical and Life Sciences, 789, 355–363.
- Manzetti S, Zhang J and van der Spoel D, 2014. Thiamin function, metabolism, uptake, and transport. Biochemistry, 53, 821–835.
- Markkanen T, Heikinheimo R and Dahl M, 1969. Transketolase activity of red blood cells from infancy to old age. Acta Haematologica, 42, 148–153.
- Mataix J, Aranda P, Sanchez C, Montellano MA, Planells E and Llopis J, 2003. Assessment of thiamin (vitamin B1) and riboflavin (vitamin B2) status in an adult Mediterranean population. British Journal of Nutrition, 90, 661–666.
- McCormick DB and Greene HL, 1994. Vitamins. In: Burtis CA and Ashwood ER (eds.). *Tietz textbook of clinical chemistry*. Saunders, Philadelphia, USA. pp. 1275–1316.
- McNeill G, Jia X, Whalley LJ, Fox HC, Corley J, Gow AJ, Brett CE, Starr JM and Deary IJ, 2011. Antioxidant and B vitamin intake in relation to cognitive function in later life in the Lothian Birth Cohort 1936. European Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 65, 619–626.
- Melnick D, 1942. Vitamin B1 (thiamine) requirement of man. Journal of Nutrition, 24, 139–151.
- Mensink GB, Heseker H, Richter A, Stahl A and Vohmann C (Robert Koch-Institut & Universität Paderborn), 2007. Ernährungsstudie als KIGGS-Modul (EsKiMo). 143 pp.
- Mickelsen O and Yamamoto RS, 2006. Methods for the determination of thiamine. In: Glick D (ed.). *Methods of Biochemical Analysis*, 6, John Wiley & Sons Inc, Hoboken, NJ, USA. pp. 191–257.
- Mickelsen O, Caster WO and Keys A, 1947. A statistical evaluation of the thiamine and pyramin excretions of normal young men on controlled intakes of thiamine. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 168, 415–431.
- Montalto MB, Benson JD and Martinez GA, 1985. Nutrient intakes of formula-fed infants and infants fed cow's milk. Pediatrics, 75, 343–351.



- Nabokina SM, Ramos MB, Valle JE and Said HM, 2015. Regulation of basal promoter activity of the human thiamine pyrophosphate transporter SLC44A4 in human intestinal epithelial cells. American Journal of Physiology. Cell Physiology, 308, C750–C757.
- Nail PA, Thomas MR and Eakin R, 1980. The effect of thiamin and riboflavin supplementation on the level of those vitamins in human breast milk and urine. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 33, 198–204.
- Najjar VA and Holt LJ, 1943. The biosynthesis of thiamine in man: and its implications in human nutrition. Journal of the American Medical Association, 123, 683–684.
- Nes M, Sem SW, Rousseau B, Bjorneboe GE, Engedal K, Trygg K and Pedersen JI, 1988. Dietary intakes and nutritional status of old people with dementia living at home in Oslo. European Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 42, 581–593.
- Neville MC, Keller R, Seacat J, Lutes V, Neifert M, Casey C, Allen J and Archer P, 1988. Studies in human lactation: milk volumes in lactating women during the onset of lactation and full lactation. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 48, 1375–1386.
- Nghiem HO, Bettendorff L and Changeux JP, 2000. Specific phosphorylation of Torpedo 43K rapsyn by endogenous kinase(s) with thiamine triphosphate as the phosphate donor. FASEB Journal, 14, 543–554.
- Nichols HK and Basu TK, 1994. Thiamin status of the elderly: dietary intake and thiamin pyrophosphate response. Journal of the American College of Nutrition, 13, 57–61.
- Nordic Council of Ministers, 2014. Nordic Nutrition Recommendations 2012. Integrating nutrition and physical activity. Copenhagen, Denmark, 627 pp.
- Oldham HG, 1962. Thiamine requirements of women. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 98, 542–549.
- Oldham HG, Davis MV and Roberts LJ, 1946. Thiamine excretions and blood levels of young women on diets containing varying levels of the B vitamins, with some observations on niacin and pantothenic acid. Journal of Nutrition, 32, 163–180.
- Oldham H, Sheft BB and Porter T, 1950. Thiamine and riboflavin intakes and excretions during pregnancy. Journal of Nutrition, 41, 231–245.
- O'Rourke NP, Bunker VW, Thomas AJ, Finglas PM, Baykey AL and Clayton BE, 1990. Thiamine status of healthy and institutionalized elderly subjects: analysis of dietary intake and biochemical indices. Age and Ageing, 19, 325–329.
- Ortega RM, Requejo AM, Andres P, Lopez-Sobaler AM, Quintas ME, Redondo MR, Navia B and Rivas T, 1997. Dietary intake and cognitive function in a group of elderly people. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 66, 803–809.
- Ortega RM, Martinez RM, Andres P, Marin-Arias L and Lopez-Sobaler AM, 2004. Thiamin status during the third trimester of pregnancy and its influence on thiamin concentrations in transition and mature breast milk. British Journal of Nutrition, 92, 129–135.
- Ortega RM, Navia B, Lopez Sabaler AM and Aparicio A (Department of Nutrition, Faculty of Pharmacy, University Complutense of Madrid), 2014. Recommended daily intakes of energy and nutrients for Spanish population.
- Ortigoza-Escobar JD, Serrano M, Molero M, Oyarzabal A, Rebollo M, Muchart J, Artuch R, Rodriguez-Pombo P and Perez-Duenas B, 2014. Thiamine transporter-2 deficiency: outcome and treatment monitoring. Orphanet Journal of Rare Diseases, 9, 92.
- Ospanov RV, Kochetov GA and Kurganov BI, 2007. Influence of donor substrate on kinetic parameters of thiamine diphosphate binding to transketolase. Biochemistry, 72, 84–92.
- Pekkarinen M, Koivula L and Rissanen A, 1974. Thiamine intake and evaluation of thiamine status among aged people in Finland. International Journal for Vitamin and Nutrition Research, 44, 435–442.
- Pelucchi C, Tramacere I, Bertuccio P, Tavani A, Negri E and La Vecchia C, 2009. Dietary intake of selected micronutrients and gastric cancer risk: an Italian case-control study. Annals of Oncology, 20, 160–165.
- Picciano MF, 1995. Water soluble vitamins in human milk. In: Jensen RG (ed.). *Handbook of Milk Composition*. Academic Press, New York, USA. pp. 189–194.
- Platt BS, 1958. Clinical features of endemic beri-beri. Federation Proceedings, 17, 8–20.
- Puxty JA, Haskew AE, Ratcliffe JG and McMurray J, 1985. Changes in erythrocyte transketolase activity and the thiamine pyrophosphate effect during storage of blood. Annals of Clinical Biochemistry, 22, 423–427.
- Reidling JC, Subramanian VS, Dudeja PK and Said HM, 2002. Expression and promoter analysis of SLC19A2 in the human intestine. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta, 1561, 180–187.
- Requejo AM, Ortega RM, Robles F, Navia B, Faci M and Aparicio A, 2003. Influence of nutrition on cognitive function in a group of elderly, independently living people. European Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 57(Suppl. 1), S54–S57.
- Reuter H, Gassmann B and Erhardt V, 1967. Contribution to the question of the human thiamine requirement. Internationale Zeitschrift fur Vitaminforschung (International Journal of Vitamin Research), 37, 315–328.
- Robinson WD, Melnick D and Field H, 1940. Urinary excretion of thiamin in clinical cases and the value of such analyses in the diagnosis of thiamin deficiency. Journal of Clinical Investigation, 19, 399–408.
- Roderuck CE, Williams HH and Macy IG, 1945. Human milk studies; free and total thiamine contents of colostrum and mature human milk. American Journal of Diseases of Children, 70, 162–170.



- Roe MA, Bell S, Oseredczuk M, Christensen T, Westenbrink S, Pakkala H, Presser K and Finglas PM, 2013. Updated food composition database for nutrient intake. Project developed on the procurement project CFT/EFSA/DCM/ 2011/03. EFSA Supporting publication 2013:EN-355, 21 pp.
- Roman-Campos D and Cruz JS, 2014. Current aspects of thiamine deficiency on heart function. Life Sciences, 98, 1–5.
- Ross AC, Caballero B, Cousins RJ, Tucker KL and Ziegler TR, 2014. *Modern Nutrition in Health and Disease*. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, Philadelphia, USA.
- van Rossum CTM, Fransen HP, Verkaik-Kloosterman J, Buurma-Rethans EJM and Ocké MC, 2011. Dutch National Food Consumption Survey 2007–2010: diet of children and adults aged 7 to 69 years. RIVM Report number: 350050006/2011, National Institute for Public Health and the Environment, 143 pp.
- Roth-Maier DA, Kirchgessner M and Rajtek S, 1990. Retention and utilization of thiamin by gravid and non gravid rats with varying dietary thiamin supply. International Journal for Vitamin and Nutrition Research, 60, 343–350.
- Rucker RB, Zempleni J, Mc Cormick DB and Suttie JW, 2007. *Handbook of vitamins*. 4th Edition. CRC Press. 608 pp.
- Saeed MA and Zaheer-ud-Din K, 1996. Effects of tea consumption on thiamine status and nerve conduction in Pakistani people. Hamdard Medicus, 39, 28–32.
- Said HM, Balamurugan K, Subramanian VS and Marchant JS, 2004. Expression and functional contribution of hTHTR-2 in thiamin absorption in human intestine. American Journal of Physiology. Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology, 286, G491–G498.
- Sato A, Shimoyama Y, Ishikawa T, and Murayama N, 2011. Dietary thiamin and riboflavin intake and blood thiamin and riboflavin concentrations in college swimmers undergoing intensive training. International Journal of Sport Nutrition and Exercise Metabolism, 21, 195–204.
- Sauberlich HE, 1967. Biochemical alterations in thiamine deficiency–their interpretation. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 20, 528–546.
- Sauberlich HE, 1978. Vitamin indices. In: Committee on Nutrition of the Mother and Preschool Child (ed.). *Laboratory indices of nutritional status in pregnancy*. National Research Council. National Academy of Sciences, Washington DC, USA. pp. 109–156.
- Sauberlich HE, 1999. Vitamin B-1 (Thiamin). In: Sauberlich HE (ed.). *Laboratory tests for the assessment of nutritional status*, 2nd Edition. CRP Press, Boca Raton, USA. pp. 37–53.
- Sauberlich HE, Herman YF, Stevens CO and Herman RH, 1979. Thiamin requirement of the adult human. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 32, 2237–2248.
- SCF (Scientific Committee for Food), 1993. Nutrient and energy intakes for the European Community. Reports of the Scientific Committee for Food, 31st Series. Food Science and Technique, European Commission, Luxembourg, 248 pp.
- SCF (Scientific Committee on Food), 2001. Opinion of the Scientific Committee on Food on the Tolerable Upper Intake Level of Vitamin B1. SCF/CS/NUT/UPPLEV/46 Final, 8 pp.
- Schrijver J, 1991. Biochemical markers for micronutrient status and their interpretation. In: Petrzik K (ed.). *Modern lifestyles, lower energy intake and micronutrient status*. Springer-Verlag, London, UK. pp. 55–85.
- Schrijver J, Speek AJ, Klosse JA, van Rijn HJ and Schreurs WH, 1982. A reliable semiautomated method for the determination of total thiamine in whole blood by the thiochrome method with high-performance liquid chromatography. Annals of Clinical Biochemistry, 19, 52–56.
- Schrijver J, van Veelen BW and Schreurs WH, 1985. Biochemical evaluation of the vitamin and iron status of an apparently healthy Dutch free-living elderly population. Comparison with younger adults. International Journal for Vitamin and Nutrition Research, 55, 337–349.
- Schultz AS, Light RF and Frey CN, 1938. Vitamin B1 metabolism in man. Excretion of B1 in urine and feces. Experimental Biology and Medicine, 38, 404–406.
- Sechi G and Serra A, 2007. Wernicke's encephalopathy: new clinical settings and recent advances in diagnosis and management. Lancet Neurology, 6, 442–455.
- Sette S, Le Donne C, Piccinelli R, Arcella D, Turrini A and Leclercq C and Group I-SS, 2011. The third Italian National Food Consumption Survey, INRAN-SCAI 2005-06 part 1: nutrient intakes in Italy. Nutrition, Metabolism and Cardiovascular Diseases, 21, 922–932.
- Shatenstein B, Kergoat MJ and Reid I, 2007. Poor nutrient intakes during 1-year follow-up with communitydwelling older adults with early-stage Alzheimer dementia compared to cognitively intact matched controls. Journal of the American Dietetic Association, 107, 2091–2099.
- Shaw NS, Wang JL, Pan WH, Liao PC and Yang FL, 2007. Thiamin and riboflavin status of Taiwanese elementary schoolchildren. Asia Pacific Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 16(Suppl. 2), 564–571.
- Shibata K, Hirose J and Fukuwatari T, 2014. Relationship between urinary concentrations of nine water-soluble vitamins and their vitamin intakes in Japanese adult males. Nutrition and Metabolic Insights, 7, 61–75.
- Singleton CK and Martin PR, 2001. Molecular mechanisms of thiamine utilization. Current Molecular Medicine, 1, 197–207.
- Singleton CK, Pekovich SR, McCool BA and Martin PR, 1995. The thiamine-dependent hysteretic behavior of human transketolase: implications for thiamine deficiency. Journal of Nutrition, 125, 189–194.



Slobody LB, Willner MM and Mestern J, 1949. Comparison of vitamin B1 levels in mothers and their newborn infants. American Journal of Diseases of Children, 77, 736–739.

Smidt LJ, Cremin FM, Grivetti LE and Clifford AJ, 1991. Influence of thiamin supplementation on the health and general well-being of an elderly Irish population with marginal thiamin deficiency. Journal of Gerontology, 46, M16–M22.

Stuetz W, Carrara VI, McGready R, Lee SJ, Biesalski HK and Nosten FH, 2012a. Thiamine diphosphate in whole blood, thiamine and thiamine monophosphate in breast-milk in a refugee population. PLoS ONE, 7, e36280.

- Stuetz W, Carrara VI, McGready R, Lee SJ, Erhardt JG, Breuer J, Biesalski HK and Nosten FH, 2012b. Micronutrient status in lactating mothers before and after introduction of fortified flour: cross-sectional surveys in Maela refugee camp. European Journal of Nutrition, 51, 425–434.
- Subramanya SB, Subramanian VS and Said HM, 2010. Chronic alcohol consumption and intestinal thiamin absorption: effects on physiological and molecular parameters of the uptake process. American Journal of Physiology. Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology, 299, G23–G31.
- Talwar D, Davidson H, Cooney J and O'Reilly DSJ, 2000. Vitamin B(1) status assessed by direct measurement of thiamin pyrophosphate in erythrocytes or whole blood by HPLC: comparison with erythrocyte transketolase activation assay. Clinical Chemistry, 46, 704–710.
- Tang CM, Rolfe M, Wells JC and Cham K, 1989. Outbreak of beri-beri in The Gambia. Lancet, 2, 206–207.
- Tasevska N, Runswick SA, McTaggart A and Bingham SA, 2008. Twenty-four-hour urinary thiamine as a biomarker for the assessment of thiamine intake. European Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 62, 1139–1147.
- Thom JY, Davis RE and Icke GC, 1985. Dephosphorylation of thiamin pyrophosphate by fresh human plasma. International Journal for Vitamin and Nutrition Research, 55, 269–273.
- Thomas MR, Sneed SM, Wei C, Nail PA, Wilson M and Sprinkle EE 3rd, 1980. The effects of vitamin C, vitamin B6, vitamin B12, folic acid, riboflavin, and thiamin on the breast milk and maternal status of well-nourished women at 6 months postpartum. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 33, 2151–2156.
- Tomasulo PA, Kater RM and Iber FL, 1968. Impairment of thiamine absorption in alcoholism. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 21, 1341–1344.
- Toverud KU, 1940. The excretion of aneurin in pregnant and lactating women and in infants. Zeitschrift fur Vitaminforschung, 10, 255–267.
- Tripathy K, 1968. Erythrocyte transketolase activity and thiamine transfer across human placenta. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 21, 739–742.
- Tsuji T, Fukuwatari T, Sasaki S and Shibata K, 2010a. Twenty-four-hour urinary water-soluble vitamin levels correlate with their intakes in free-living Japanese university students. European Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 64, 800–807.
- Tsuji T, Fukuwatari T, Sasaki S and Shibata K, 2010b. Urinary excretion of vitamin B1, B2, B6, niacin, pantothenic acid, folate, and vitamin C correlates with dietary intakes of free-living elderly, female Japanese. Nutrition Research, 30, 171–178.
- Tsuji T, Fukuwatari T, Sasaki S and Shibata K, 2011. Twenty-four-hour urinary water-soluble vitamin levels correlate with their intakes in free-living Japanese schoolchildren. Public Health Nutrition, 14, 327–333.
- Vimokesant S, Kunjara S, Rungruangsak K, Nakornchai S and Panijpan B, 1982. Beriberi caused by antithiamin factors in food and its prevention. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 378, 123–136.
- Vir SC, Love AH and Thompson W, 1980. Thiamin status during pregnancy. International Journal for Vitamin and Nutrition Research, 50, 131–140.
- Wang RS and Kies C, 1991. Niacin, thiamin, iron and protein status of humans as affected by the consumption of tea Camellia-Sinensis infusions. Plant Foods for Human Nutrition, 41, 337–354.
- Warnock LG, Prudhomme CR and Wagner C, 1978. The determination of thiamin pyrophosphate in blood and other tissues, and its correlation with erythrocyte transketolase activity. Journal of Nutrition, 108, 421–427.
- Whitfield KC, Karakochuk CD, Liu Y, McCann A, Talukder A, Kroeun H, Ward M, McNulty H, Lynd LD, Kitts DD, Li-Chan EC, McLean J and Green TJ, 2015. Poor thiamin and riboflavin status is common among women of childbearing age in rural and urban Cambodia. Journal of Nutrition, 145, 628–633.
- WHO (World Health Organization), 1999. Thiamine deficiency and its prevention and control in major emergencies. 65 pp.
- WHO/FAO (World Health Organization/Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations), 2004. Vitamin and mineral requirements in human nutrition: report of a joint FAO/WHO expert consultation, Bangkok, Thailand, 21-30 September 1998. 341 pp.
- van der Wielen RPJ, de Groot LC and van Staveren WA, 1994. Dietary intake of water soluble vitamins in elderly people living in a western society (1980-1993). Nutrition Research, 14, 605–638.
- Wilkinson TJ, Hanger HC, Elmslie J, George PM and Sainsbury R, 1997. The response to treatment of subclinical thiamine deficiency in the elderly. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 66, 925–928.
- Wilkinson TJ, Hanger HC, George PM and Sainsbury R, 2000. Is thiamine deficiency in elderly people related to age or co-morbidity? Age and Ageing, 29, 111–116.

Williams RR, 1961. Towards the conquest of beri-beri. Harvard University Press, Cambridge, USA. 338 pp.

Williams RD, Mason HL, Smith BF and Wilder RM, 1942. Induced thiamine (vitamin B1) deficiency and the thiamine requirement of man: further observations. Archives of Internal Medicine, 69, 721–738.



Williams RD, Mason HL and Wilder RM, 1943. The minimum daily requirement of thiamine of man. Journal of Nutrition, 25, 71–97.

Wolters M, Hermann S and Hahn A, 2003. B vitamin status and concentrations of homocysteine and methylmalonic acid in elderly German women. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 78, 765–772.

Wood B, Gijsbers A, Goode A, Davis S, Mulholland J and Breen K, 1980. A study of partial thiamin restriction in human volunteers. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 33, 848–861.

Wyatt DT, Nelson D and Hillman RE, 1991. Age-dependent changes in thiamin concentrations in whole blood and cerebrospinal fluid in infants and children. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 53, 530–536.

Yang FL, Liao PC, Chen YY, Wang JL and Shaw NS, 2005. Prevalence of thiamin and riboflavin deficiency among the elderly in Taiwan. Asia Pacific Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 14, 238–243.

Zhao R and Goldman ID, 2013. Folate and thiamine transporters mediated by facilitative carriers (SLC19A1-3 and SLC46A1) and folate receptors. Molecular Aspects of Medicine, 34, 373–385.

Ziporin ZZ, Nunes WT, Powell RC, Waring PP and Sauberlich HE, 1965a. Excretion of thiamine and its metabolites in the urine of young adult males receiving restricted intakes of the vitamin. Journal of Nutrition, 85, 287–296.

Ziporin ZZ, Nunes WT, Powell RC, Waring PP and Sauberlich HE, 1965b. Thiamine requirement in the adult human as measured by urinary excretion of thiamine metabolites. Journal of Nutrition, 85, 297–304.

#### **Abbreviations**

αETK	erythrocyte transketolase activity coefficient
Afssa	Agence française de sécurité sanitaire des aliments
AI	adequate intake
AR	average requirement
ATP	adenosine triphosphate
ATTP	adenosine thiamin triphosphate
COMA	Committee on Medical Aspects of Food Policy
CV	coefficient of variation
D-A-CH	Deutschland-Austria-Confoederatio Helvetica
DH	Department of Health
DIPP	type 1 Diabetes Prediction and Prevention survey
DNFCS	Dutch National Food Consumption Survey
DNSIYC	Diet and Nutrition Survey of Infants and Young Children
DRV	dietary reference value
EAR	estimated average requirement
EsKiMo	Ernährungsstudie als KIGGS-Modul
ЕТКА	erythrocyte transketolase activity
FAO	Food and Agriculture Organization
FC_PREGNANTWOMEN	food consumption of pregnant women in Latvia
FINDIET	National Dietary Survey of Finland
FNB	U.S. Food and Nutrition Board
Hb	haemoglobin
HPLC	high-performance liquid chromatography
INCA	Etude Individuelle Nationale des Consommations Alimentaires
INRAN-SCAI	Istituto Nazionale di Ricerca per gli Alimenti e la Nutrizione – Studio sui
	Consumi Alimentari in Italia
IOM	US Institute of Medicine of the National Academy of Sciences
LOAEL	low-observed-adverse-effect level
LTI	lower threshold intake
NADPH	nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate
NANS	National Adult Nutrition Survey
NDNS	National Diet and Nutrition Survey
NNR	Nordic Nutrition Recommendations
NOAEL	no-observed-adverse-effect level
NWSSP	Nutrition and Wellbeing of Secondary School Pupils
PAL	physical activity level
PRI	population reference intake
RDA	recommended dietary allowance
SD	standard deviation
SCF	Scientific Committee for Food



TMP	thiamin monophosphate
TDP	thiamin diphosphate
ThTR	thiamin transporter
TRMA	thiamin-responsive megaloblastic anaemia
TTP	thiamin triphosphate
UL	tolerable upper intake level
UNU	United Nations University
UPLCP-MS/MS	ultra performance liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry
USDA	United States Department of Agriculture
VELS	Verzehrsstudie zur Ermittlung der Lebensmittelaufnahme von Säuglingen und Kleinkindern für die Abschätzung eines akuten Toxizitätsrisikos durch Rückstände von Pflanzenschutzmitteln
VERA	Verbundstudie Ernährungserhebung und Risikofaktoren Analytik
WHO	World Health Organization

Reference	Country	Number of women (number	Maternal thiamin intake (mean ± SD)	Stage of lactation (post-partum)	Thiamin conce mil	entration in breast k (μg/L)	Analytical method
		of samples)	(mg/day)		$\textbf{Mean} \pm \textbf{SD}$	Range	
Ortega et al. (2004)	Spain	Group L (thiamin intake < RI <sup>(a)</sup> ) 13 (3) 13 (5)	During the third trimester of pregnancy: $0.87 \pm 0.13$	13–14 days (transitional) 40 days (mature)	$239 \pm 273 \\ 66 \pm 19$		Oxidation of thiamin to thiochrome and measurement by fluorescent
		Group H (thiamin intake $\geq$ RI <sup>(a)</sup> ) 38 (17) 38 (16)	$1.45 \pm 0.38^{(b)}$	13–14 days (transitional) 40 days (mature)	$234 \pm 151$ $157 \pm 117$		spectrophotometry
Nail et al. (1980) <sup>(c)</sup>	USA	ß	Not supplemented 5–7 days: 1.33 $\pm$ 0.40	5–7 days (transitional)	$138\pm18$		Thiochrome assay and fluorometry (Hennessy and
			43–45 days: 1.26 $\pm$ 0.17	43-45 days (mature)	$220 \pm 27$		Cerecedo (1939))
		7	Supplemented $5-7$ days: $3.40 \pm 0.42$	5–7 days (transitional)	$133 \pm 27$		
			43-45 days: 3.33 ± 0.77	43-45 days (mature)	$238\pm21$		
Dostalova et al.	Switzerland	26 (9)	Not supplemented	3-5 days (colostrum)	$25 \pm 12$	15-46	Fluorometry
(1988)		26 (2)		6–10 days (transitional)	$20\pm 6$	15-24	
		26 (4)		2 weeks (mature)	$169\pm84$	104–290	
		26 (18)		4 months (mature)	$154\pm42$	Foremilk: 65–233 Hindmilk: 104–156	
	Finland	nr (57)	Supplemented with	3 or 4 days (colostrum)	$40 \pm 25$	12–142	Fluorometry
		nr (57)	2 mg thiamin/day	8 weeks (mature)	$193\pm40$	119–343	
		nr (57)		4 months (mature)	$188\pm39$	107–284	
		nr (57)		6 months (mature)	$199\pm45$	98–396	
		nr (57)		7.5 months (mature)	$\textbf{204} \pm \textbf{41}$	112–296	
Ford et al.	UK	6 (13)		1–5 days (colostrum)	28.4	13–59	Assayed with Lactobacillus
(1983)		10 (21)		6–15 days (transitional)	64.6	24–106	fermenti test medium from
		26 (26)		16–224 days (mature)	183	60–360	(Sannia) Idinnea

Appendix A – Concentrations of thiamin in breast milk from mothers of term infants in Western countries

Dietary reference values for thiamin

EFSA Journal

40

Reference	Country	Number of women (number	Maternal thiamin intake (mean ± SD)	Stage of lactation (post-partum)	Thiamin conce milk	ntration in breast (µg/L)	Analytical method
		ot samples)	(mg/aay)		$\textbf{Mean} \pm \textbf{SD}$	Range	
Thomas et al. (1980) <sup>(c)</sup>	NSA	n = 6	Not supplemented 1.49 $\pm$ 0.96	6 months (mature)	<b>208</b> ± 34		Modification of the thiochrome method
		n = 6	Supplemented Food: 1.56 $\pm$ 0.47 Supplements: 1.7	6 months (mature)	$228 \pm 26$		(Hennessy and Cerecedo (1939))
Roderuck et al.	NSA	2 (2) 5 (5)		Day 1 Day 2	14.8 15.1	9.2–20.5 12.4–18.4	Thiochrome method adapted from Hennessy
		6 (6)		Day 3	16.2	12.3–20.8	(1942)
		6 (6)		Day 4	19.6	17.0–24.0	
		6 (6)		Day 5	25.0	17.2–33.9	
		6 (6)		Day 6	35.4	23.2-48.6	
		6) 6		Day 7	46.5	31.0–62.1	
		7 (7)		Day 8	56.8	32.0–78.7	
		7 (7)		Day 9	77.7	58.0–105.2	
		6 (6)		Day 10	81.2	66.8–102.2	
		10 (90)		45–306 days (mature) <sup>(d)</sup>	148	91–184	
		65 (187)		15–362 days (mature) <sup>(e)</sup>	140	81–227	
Studies were identifie	ad hv a compreh	ensive literature search t	for publications from January	2000 to January 2014 (LASER	Analytica, 2014) ar	nd additional literature s	search hefore these dates.

succes were rueriumed by a compremensive merature search for publications from January 2004 (LASER Analytica, 2014) and additional literature search before these dates. FFQ: food frequency questionnaire; nr: not reported; RI: recommended intake; UPLC–MS/MS: ultra performance liquid chromatography–tandem mass spectrometry method). (a): Recommended intake for the Spanish population, for women in the second half of pregnancy: 0.4 mg/4,184 kJ + 0.1 mg/day, with a minimum provision of 1 mg/day (Ortega et al., 2014). (b): One woman took a food supplement which provided 1.57 mg/day. (c): No information on whether infants were born at term or were preterm. It is presumed that infants were born at term. (d): 24-h milk samples. (e): Complete expressions of milk secreted in 4–8 h.

41





Appendix B – Dietary surveys in the EFSA Comprehensive European Food Consumption Database included in EFSA's nutrient intake calculation for thiamin

					Age			Num	ber of subject	S		
Country	Dietary survey (year)	Year	Method	Days	(years)	Infants < 1 year	Children 1-< 3 years	Children 3-< 10 years	Adolescents 10-< 18 years	Adults 18-< 65 years	Adults 65-< 75 years	Adults ≥ 75 years
Finland/1	NWSSP	2007-2008	48-h dietary recall <sup>(a)</sup>	$2 \times 2^{(a)}$	13–15				306			
Finland/2	FINDIET2012	2012	48-h dietary recall <sup>(a)</sup>	2 <sup>(a)</sup>	25-74					1,295	413	
Finland/3	DIPP	2000-2010	Dietary record	e	0.5–6	499	500	750				
France	INCA2	2006-2007	Dietary record	7	3-79			482	973	2,276	264	84
Germany/1	EsKiMo	2006	Dietary record	с	6-11			835	393			
Germany/2	VELS	2001-2002	Dietary record	9	< 1_4	158	348 <sup>(c)</sup>	296 <sup>(c)</sup>				
Ireland	NANS	2008-2010	Dietary record	4	$18_{-90}$					1,274	149	77
Italy	INRAN-SCAI 2005-06	2005-2006	Dietary record	с	< 1–98	16 <sup>(b)</sup>	36 <sup>(b)</sup>	193	247	2,313	290	228
Latvia	FC_PREGNANT WOMEN 2011	2011	24-h dietary recall	2	15-45				12 <sup>(b)</sup>	991 <sup>(c)</sup>		
Netherlands	DNFCS 2007-2010	2007-2010	24-h dietary recall	2	7–69			447	1,142	2,057	173	
Sweden	RISKMATEN	2010-2011	Dietary records (Web) <sup>(d)</sup>	4	18-80					1,430	295	72
UK/1	DNSIYC-2011	2011	Dietary record	4	0.3–1.5	1,369	1,314					
UK/2	NDNS-Rolling Programme (Years 1–3)	2008–2011	Dietary record	4	1–94		185	651	666	1,266	166	139

Emährungsstudie als KIGGS-Modul; FC\_PREGNANTWOMEN: food consumption of pregnant women in Latvia; FINDIET: the national dietary survey of Finland; INCA: étude Individuelle Nationale des DIPP: type 1 Diabetes Prediction and Prevention survey; DNFCS: Dutch National Food Consumption Survey; DNSIYC: Diet and Nutrition Survey of Infants and Young Children; EskiMo:

Consommations Alimentaires; INRAN-SCAI: Istituto Nazionale di Ricerca per gli Alimenti e la Nutrizione – Studio sui Consumi Alimentari in Italia; NANS, National Adult Nutrition Survey; NDNS: National Diet and Nutrition Survey; NWSSP: Nutrition and Wellbeing of Secondary School Pupils; VELS: Verzehrsstudie zur Ermittlung der Lebensmittelaufnahme von Säuglingen und Kleinkindern für die Abschätzung eines akuten Toxizitätsrisikos durch Rückstände von Pflanzenschutzmitteln.

(a): A 48-h dietary recall comprising two consecutive days. (b): 5th or 95th percentile intakes calculated from fewer than 60 subjects require cautious interpretation as the results may not be statistically robust (EFSA, 2011a) and, therefore, for these dietary surveys/age classes, the 5th and 95th percentile estimates are not presented in the intake results.

(c): Four children from the VELS study (one aged 1-< 3 and three aged 3-< 10 years) and one adult from the Latvian study were not considered in the assessment as only one 24-h dietary recall day was available.

(d): The Swedish dietary records were introduced through the Internet.



Appendix C – Thiamin intakes (mg/day and mg/MJ) in males in different surveys, estimated by EFSA according to age class and country

			Int	akes expre	sed in mg	/day		Intakes	expressed	in mg	CM/
Age class	Country	Survey	c	Average	Median	P5	P95	Average	Median	P5	<b>P</b> 95
< 1 year <sup>(a)</sup>	Germany	VELS	84	0.53	0.54	0.32	0.77	0.17	0.17	0.11	0.21
	Finland	DIPP_2001_2009	247 <sup>(b)</sup>	0.39	0.43	0.05	0.68	0.20	0.19	0.12	0.31
	United Kingdom	DNSIYC_2011	669	0.65	0.64	0.32	1.01	0.19	0.19	0.12	0.26
	Italy	INRAN_SCAI_2005_06	6	0.31	0.27	(c) 	(c) 	0.11	0.10	(c) _	(c)
1-<3 years	Germany	VELS	174	0.65	0.63	0.40	0.97	0.14	0.13	0.09	0.18
	Finland	DIPP_2001_2009	245	0.75	0.74	0.44	1.12	0.21	0.20	0.15	0.27
	United Kingdom	NDNS-Rolling Programme Years 1–3	107	0.98	0.95	0.64	1.43	0.20	0.19	0.15	0.29
	United Kingdom	DNSIYC_2011	663	0.83	0.82	0.50	1.21	0.20	0.20	0.13	0.27
	Italy	INRAN_SCAI_2005_06	20	0.61	0.59	_(c)	_(c)	0.12	0.13	(c)	(c)
3- < 10 years	Germany	EskiMo	426	1.17	1.12	0.70	1.75	0.15	0.15	0.10	0.22
	Germany	VELS	146	0.75	0.72	0.46	1.12	0.13	0.13	0.09	0.19
	Finland	DIPP_2001_2009	381	1.07	1.01	0.69	1.61	0.18	0.18	0.13	0.24
	France	INCA2	239	1.01	0.95	0.56	1.61	0.16	0.15	0.11	0.24
	United Kingdom	NDNS-Rolling Programme Years 1–3	326	1.29	1.26	0.74	1.91	0.20	0.20	0.14	0.27
	Italy	INRAN_SCAI_2005_06	94	0.95	0.91	0.61	1.43	0.13	0.13	0.09	0.19
	Netherlands	DNFCS 2007-2010	231	0.87	0.82	0.48	1.39	0.10	0.10	0.07	0.15
10-< 18 years	Germany	EskiMo	197	1.23	1.21	0.74	1.94	0.15	0.15	0.10	0.22
	Finland	NWSSP07_08	136	1.39	1.35	0.92	2.05	0.17	0.17	0.12	0.23
	France	INCA2	449	1.25	1.18	0.73	1.96	0.16	0.15	0.11	0.23
	United Kingdom	NDNS-Rolling Programme Years 1–3	340	1.66	1.60	0.93	2.72	0.20	0.20	0.13	0.29
	Italy	INRAN_SCAI_2005_06	108	1.26	1.21	0.73	2.05	0.13	0.12	0.09	0.19
	Netherlands	DNFCS 2007-2010	566	1.12	1.04	0.64	1.80	0.11	0.10	0.07	0.17

EFSA Journal 2016;14(12):4653



			Int	akes expre	sed in mg	/day		Intakes	expressed	in mg/	CM
Age class	Country	Survey	E	Average	Median	PS	P95	Average	Median	PS	P95
18-< 65 years	Finland	FINDIET2012	585	1.56	1.50	0.77	2.59	0.17	0.16	0.11	0.25
	France	INCA2	936	1.24	1.21	0.69	1.94	0.14	0.14	0.10	0.20
	United Kingdom	NDNS-Rolling Programme Years 1–3	560	1.78	1.72	0.92	2.75	0.21	0.20	0.13	0.31
	Ireland	NANS_2012	634	1.99	1.92	1.06	3.18	0.20	0.20	0.13	0.29
	Italy	INRAN_SCAI_2005_06	1,068	1.13	1.08	0.65	1.75	0.12	0.12	0.09	0.18
	Netherlands	DNFCS 2007-2010	1,023	1.26	1.18	0.66	2.04	0.11	0.10	0.07	0.18
	Sweden	Riksmaten 2010	623	1.52	1.47	0.80	2.37	0.16	0.15	0.10	0.22
65-< 75 years	Finland	FINDIET2012	210	1.40	1.32	0.77	2.30	0.17	0.17	0.11	0.26
	France	INCA2	111	1.19	1.17	0.66	1.78	0.14	0.14	0.10	0.19
	United Kingdom	NDNS-Rolling Programme Years 1–3	75	1.74	1.71	0.74	2.63	0.21	0.21	0.13	0.31
	Ireland	NANS_2012	72	1.87	1.88	1.00	2.73	0.22	0.21	0.14	0.35
	Italy	INRAN_SCAI_2005_06	133	1.08	1.05	0.70	1.64	0.13	0.12	0.09	0.17
	Netherlands	DNFCS 2007-2010	91	1.16	1.11	0.69	1.96	0.13	0.12	0.08	0.21
	Sweden	Riksmaten 2010	127	1.39	1.34	0.83	2.08	0.16	0.15	0.11	0.23
<pre>&gt; 75 years</pre>	France	INCA2	40	1.06	1.04	(C) 	(c) 	0.14	0.14	(c)	(c) 
	United Kingdom	NDNS-Rolling Programme Years 1–3	56	1.48	1.44	(c) 	(c) 	0.21	0.20	(c) 	(c)
	Ireland	NANS_2012	34	1.75	1.69	(c) 	(c) 	0.23	0.22	(c)	(c) 
	Italy	INRAN_SCAI_2005_06	69	1.03	1.04	0.61	1.54	0.12	0.12	0.09	0.16
	Sweden	Riksmaten 2010	42	1.35	1.29	(c) 	(c) 	0.16	0.16	(c) 	(c) 

Nutrition Survey of Infants and Young Children; EsKiMo: Ernährungsstudie als KIGGS-Modul; FC\_PREGNANTWOMEN: food consumption of pregnant women in Latvia; FINDIET: the national dietary survey of Finland; INCA: étude Individuelle Nationale des Consommations Alimentaires; INRAN-SCAI: Istituto Nazionale di Ricerca per gli Alimenti e la Nutrizione – Studio sui Consumi Alimentari in n: number of individuals; P5: 5th percentile; P95: 95th percentile. DIPP: type 1 Diabetes Prediction and Prevention survey; DNFCS: Dutch National Food Consumption Survey; DNSIYC: Diet and Italia; NANS: National Adult Nutrition Survey; NDNS: National Diet and Nutrition Survey; NWSSP: Nutrition and Wellbeing of Secondary School Pupils, VELS: Verzehrsstudie zur Ermittlung der Lebensmittelaufnahme von Säuglingen und Kleinkindern für die Abschätzung eines akuten Toxizitätsrisikos durch Rückstände von Pflanzenschutzmitteln.

(a): The proportions of breastfed infants were 58% in the Finnish survey, 40% in the German survey, 44% in the Italian survey and 21% in the UK survey. Most infants were partially breastfed. For the Italian and German surveys, breast milk intake estimates were derived from the number of breastfeeding events recorded per day multiplied by standard breast milk amounts consumed on an eating occasion at different age. For the UK survey, the amount of breast milk consumed was either directly quantified by the mother (expressed breast milk) or extrapolated from the duration of each breastfeeding event. As no information on the breastfeeding events were reported in the Finnish survey, breast milk intake was not taken into consideration in the intake estimates of Finnish infants.

(b): n = 245 for estimated intake expressed in mg/MJ. (c): 5th or 95th percentile intakes calculated from fewer than 60 subjects require cautious interpretation as the results may not be statistically robust (EFSA, 2011a) and, therefore, for these dietary surveys/age classes, the 5th and 95th percentile estimates are not presented in the intake results.



Appendix D – Thiamin intakes (mg/day and mg/MJ) in females in different surveys, estimated by EFSA according to age class and country

			Intal	kes express	ed in mg p	ber day		Intakes e	xpressed i	d gm u	er MJ
Age class	country	survey	u	Average	Median	P5	P95	Average	Median	P5	P95
< 1 year <sup>(a)</sup>	Germany	VELS	75	0.47	0.47	0.29	0.67	0.16	0.16	0.10	0.21
	Finland	DIPP_2001_2009	253 <sup>(b)</sup>	0.36	0.36	0.06	0.67	0.21	0.20	0.13	0.37
	United Kingdom	DNSIYC_2011	670	0.58	0.56	0.28	0.94	0.19	0.19	0.11	0.25
	Italy	INRAN_SCAI_2005_06	7	0.34	0.42	(c) 	(c)	0.11	0.13	_(c)	(c)
1-< 3 years	Germany	VELS	174	09.0	0.58	0.38	06.0	0.14	0.13	0.09	0.19
	Finland	DIPP_2001_2009	255	0.69	0.68	0.40	1.05	0.20	0.20	0.14	0.28
	United Kingdom	NDNS-Rolling Programme Years 1–3	78	0.88	0.86	0.61	1.19	0.20	0.20	0.13	0.26
	United Kingdom	DNSIYC_2011	651	0.79	0.77	0.46	1.17	0.20	0.20	0.14	0.27
	Italy	INRAN_SCAI_2005_06	16	0.58	0.57	(c) 	(c) 	0.13	0.12	(c) 	(c)
3-<10 years	Germany	EskiMo	409	1.03	0.98	0.62	1.57	0.15	0.15	0.11	0.20
	Germany	VELS	147	0.68	0.65	0.42	1.04	0.13	0.13	0.09	0.19
	Finland	DIPP_2001_2009	369	0.93	0.92	0.61	1.28	0.18	0.17	0.13	0.23
	France	INCA2	243	0.89	0.85	0.53	1.33	0.16	0.15	0.11	0.22
	United Kingdom	NDNS-Rolling Programme Years 1–3	325	1.24	1.22	0.72	1.82	0.21	0.20	0.14	0.28
	Italy	INRAN_SCAI_2005_06	66	0.93	0.90	0.48	1.42	0.13	0.12	0.09	0.18
	Netherlands	DNFCS 2007-2010	216	0.86	0.82	0.50	1.40	0.11	0.10	0.07	0.16
10-< 18 years	Germany	EskiMo	196	1.15	1.14	0.67	1.67	0.16	0.15	0.10	0.22
	Finland	NWSSP07_08	170	1.10	1.07	0.63	1.78	0.17	0.17	0.12	0.23
	France	INCA2	524	1.02	1.00	0.52	1.63	0.16	0.15	0.11	0.24
	United Kingdom	NDNS-Rolling Programme Years 1–3	326	1.32	1.30	0.76	1.93	0.20	0.19	0.13	0.28
	Italy	INRAN_SCAI_2005_06	139	1.04	1.02	0.60	1.56	0.13	0.13	0.09	0.18
	Latvia	FC_PREGNANTWOMEN_2011 <sup>(d)</sup>	12	1.92	1.74	(c) 	-(c)	0.19	0.19	(c) 	(c)
	Netherlands	DNFCS 2007-2010	576	0.93	0.90	0.53	1.45	0.11	0.10	0.07	0.16

EFSA Journal 2016;14(12):4653



		C	Intal	kes express	ed in mg p	er day		Intakes ex	xpressed i	n mg p	er MJ
Age class	country	Survey	u	Average	Median	P5	P95	Average	Median	P5	P95
18-< 65 years	Finland	FINDIET2012	710	1.19	1.12	0.62	1.96	0.17	0.16	0.10	0.25
	France	INCA2	1,340	0.99	0.96	0.55	1.52	0.15	0.15	0.11	0.22
	United Kingdom	NDNS-Rolling Programme Years 1–3	706	1.38	1.36	0.78	2.05	0.21	0.20	0.14	0:30
	Ireland	NANS_2012	640	1.45	1.39	0.81	2.32	0.20	0.19	0.13	0:30
	Italy	INRAN_SCAI_2005_06	1,245	0.97	0.94	0.56	1.50	0.13	0.13	0.09	0.19
	Latvia	FC_PREGNANTWOMEN_2011 <sup>(d)</sup>	066	1.79	1.72	0.89	2.90	0.21	0.21	0.12	0.32
	Netherlands	DNFCS 2007-2010	1,034	1.02	0.95	0.53	1.68	0.12	0.12	0.07	0.20
	Sweden	Riksmaten 2010	807	1.18	1.14	0.66	1.85	0.17	0.15	0.10	0.23
65-< 75 years	Finland	FINDIET2012	203	1.07	1.04	0.57	1.71	0.17	0.17	0.12	0.25
	France	INCA2	153	0.94	0.89	0.54	1.45	0.15	0.14	0.11	0.21
	United Kingdom	NDNS-Rolling Programme Years 1–3	91	1.39	1.38	0.93	1.86	0.24	0.23	0.17	0.35
	Ireland	NANS_2012	77	1.55	1.53	0.87	2.18	0.23	0.23	0.16	0.33
	Italy	INRAN_SCAI_2005_06	157	0.94	0.94	0.53	1.37	0.14	0.13	0.09	0.19
	Netherlands	DNFCS 2007-2010	82	0.96	0.95	0.50	1.42	0.13	0.13	0.08	0.21
	Sweden	Riksmaten 2010	168	1.11	1.08	0.65	1.71	0.16	0.15	0.12	0.21
≥ 75 years	France	INCA2	44	0.88	0.87	(c)	_(c)	0.15	0.14	(c)	(c)
	United Kingdom	NDNS-Rolling Programme Years 1–3	83	1.37	1.32	0.87	1.86	0.23	0.23	0.15	0.33
	Ireland	NANS_2012	43	1.45	1.29	(c) 	_(c)	0.23	0.22	(c)	(c)
	Italy	INRAN_SCAI_2005_06	159	06.0	0.87	0.54	1.37	0.14	0.13	0.09	0.19
	Sweden	Riksmaten 2010	30	1.08	1.07	(c) 	(c)	0.15	0.16	(c) 	(c)

Nutrition Survey of Infants and Young Children; EskiMo: Ernährungsstudie als KIGGS-Modul; FC\_PREGNANTWOMEN: food consumption of pregnant women in Latvia; FINDIET: the national dietary survey of Finland; INCA: étude Individuelle Nationale des Consommations Alimentaires; INRAN-SCAI: Istituto Nazionale di Ricerca per gli Alimenti e la Nutrizione - Studio sui Consumi Alimentari in n: number of individuals; P5: 5th percentile; P95: 95th percentile. DIPP: type 1 Diabetes Prediction and Prevention survey; DNFCS: Dutch National Food Consumption Survey; DNSIYC: Diet and Italia; NANS: National Adult Nutrition Survey; NDNS: National Diet and Nutrition Survey; NWSSP: Nutrition and Wellbeing of Secondary School Pupils; VELS: Verzehrsstudie zur Ermittlung der Lebensmittelaufnahme von Säuglingen und Kleinkindern für die Abschätzung eines akuten Toxizitätsrisikos durch Rückstände von Pflanzenschutzmitteln.

(a): The proportions of breastfed infants were 58% in the Finnish survey, 40% in the German survey, 44% in the Italian survey and 21% in the UK survey. Most infants were partially breastfed. For the Italian and German surveys, breast milk intake estimates were derived from the number of breastfeeding events recorded per day multiplied by standard breast milk amounts consumed on an eating occasion at different age. For the UK survey, the amount of breast milk consumed was either directly quantified by the mother (expressed breast milk) or extrapolated from the duration of each breastfeeding event. As no information on the breastfeeding events were reported in the Finnish survey, breast milk intake was not taken into consideration in the intake estimates of Finnish infants.

(b): n = 251 for estimated intake expressed in mg/MJ.

(c): 5th or 95th percentile intakes calculated from fewer than 60 subjects require cautious interpretation as the results may not be statistically robust (EFSA, 2011b) and, therefore, for these dietary surveys/age classes, the 5th and 95th percentile estimates are not presented in the intake results.

(d): Pregnant women only.



## Appendix E – Minimum and maximum percentage contribution of different food groups (FoodEx2 level 1) to thiamin intake estimates among males

Food groups				Age			
loou groups	< 1 year	1-< 3 years	3-< 10 years	10-< 18 years	18-< 65 years	65-< 75 years	≥ <b>75 years</b>
Additives, flavours, baking and processing aids	< 1	< 1	0–1	0–1	0	0	0
Alcoholic beverages	< 1	< 1	< 1	< 1	1–2	< 1–1	< 1–1
Animal and vegetable fats and oils	0	< 1	< 1	< 1	< 1	< 1	< 1
Coffee, cocoa, tea and infusions	< 1–1	< 1–1	< 1–1	< 1–2	1–5	1–6	1–4
Composite dishes	< 1–2	< 1–8	< 1–9	1–12	< 1–15	< 1–13	< 1–14
Eggs and egg products	< 1	< 1–1	< 1–2	< 1–2	< 1–2	< 1–2	< 1–2
Fish, seafood, amphibians, reptiles and invertebrates	< 1	< 1–2	< 1–3	< 1–3	1–4	1–6	1–6
Food products for young population	35–58	3–14	< 1–1	< 1	< 1	_	_
Fruit and fruit products	2–4	3–7	2–5	1–4	2–6	3–7	2–8
Fruit and vegetable juices and nectars	< 1–2	1–7	3–11	2–11	1–7	1–5	1–2
Grains and grain- based products	6–15	24–34	20–38	21–39	20–36	18–33	19–35
Human milk	< 1–20	< 1–1	_	_	_	_	_
Legumes, nuts, oilseeds and spices	< 1–4	1–6	1–6	1–5	2–6	2–7	2–6
Meat and meat products	2–12	8–16	14–25	19–26	21–30	19–29	19–27
Milk and dairy products	5–9	17–22	10–20	6–17	5–14	6–14	7–10
Products for non- standard diets, food imitates and food supplements or fortifying agents	< 1–1	0–1	< 1–1	< 1–1	< 1–1	< 1	< 1–1
Seasoning, sauces and condiments	< 1–3	< 1–2	< 1–3	< 1–3	< 1–3	< 1–2	< 1–5
Starchy roots or tubers and products thereof, sugar plants	1–12	4–12	5–11	5–13	6–12	7–14	7–15
Sugar, confectionery and water-based sweet desserts	0	< 1–1	< 1–2	< 1–2	< 1	< 1	< 1
Vegetables and vegetable products	1–8	4–5	4–7	4–8	3–12	3–12	3–11
Water and water- based beverages	0	0	< 1–3	< 1–3	< 1–1	< 1	< 1

'-' means that there was no consumption event of the food group for the age and sex group considered, while '0' means that there were some consumption events, but that the food group does not contribute to the intake of the nutrient considered, for the age and sex group considered.



### Appendix F – Minimum and maximum percentage contribution of different food groups (FoodEx2 level 1) to thiamin intake estimates among females

Food groups				Age			
	< 1 year	1-< 3 years	3< 10 years	10-< 18 years	18-< 65 years	65-< 75 years	≥ <b>75 years</b>
Additives, flavours, baking and processing aids	0	0	0–1	0–1	0	< 1	0
Alcoholic beverages	< 1	< 1	< 1	< 1	< 1–1	< 1–1	< 1
Animal and vegetable fats and oils	< 1	< 1	< 1	< 1	< 1	< 1	< 1
Coffee, cocoa, tea and infusions	< 1–1	< 1–1	< 1–1	< 1–2	< 1–6	1–8	1–4
Composite dishes	< 1–3	< 1–9	< 1–9	< 1–13	< 1–16	< 1–14	< 1–16
Eggs and egg products	< 1–1	< 1–1	< 1–2	< 1–2	< 1–2	1–2	< 1–2
Fish, seafood, amphibians, reptiles and invertebrates	0	< 1–3	< 1–2	< 1–3	1–4	1–7	1–7
Food products for young population	35–63	3–14	< 1–2	< 1–1	< 1	-	< 1
Fruit and fruit products	3–5	3–5	2–5	2–6	3–8	4–10	3–9
Fruit and vegetable juices and nectars	< 1–2	1–7	2–11	2–12	1–6	1–5	2–3
Grains and grain-based products	10–16	25–34	21–39	24–38	20–40	19–33	20–37
Human milk	< 1–9	< 1–1	_	_	_	_	_
Legumes, nuts, oilseeds and spices	< 1–4	1–7	1–6	1–5	2–7	2–7	2–6
Meat and meat products	1–10	8–17	14–23	15–39	16–31	18–24	15–23
Milk and dairy products	3–18	15–22	10–22	6–17	5–15	7–16	8–14
Products for non- standard diets, food imitates and food supplements or fortifying agents	< 1	< 1	0–2	< 1–1	< 1–2	< 1–2	< 1–1
Seasoning, sauces and condiments	< 1–3	< 1–2	< 1–3	< 1–3	< 1–2	< 1–2	< 1–2
Starchy roots or tubers and products thereof, sugar plants	3–12	4–11	5–12	5–14	4–12	5–13	6–12
Sugar, confectionery and water-based sweet desserts	0	< 1–1	< 1–2	< 1–2	< 1–1	< 1	< 1
Vegetables and vegetable products	2–9	4–5	4–8	4_9	4–13	4–14	5–12
Water and water-based beverages	0	0	< 1–3	0–2	< 1–1	< 1	< 1

'-' means that there was no consumption event of the food group for the age and sex group considered, while '0' means that there were some consumption events, but that the food group does not contribute to the intake of the nutrient considered, for the age and sex group considered.



### Appendix G – Comparison between EFSA intake estimates and published estimates from the same survey

Country	Survey (age range)	Reference	Percentage of published intake <sup>(a)</sup>
Finland	DIPP (1–6 years)	Kyttälä et al. (2010) <sup>(b)</sup>	100–101
	NWSSP (13–15 years)	Hoppu et al. (2010) <sup>(c)</sup>	100–107
	FINDIET 2012 (25–74 years)	Helldán et al. (2013)	100–108
France	INCA2 (3–17 years)	Afssa (2009)	89–98
Germany	EsKiMo (6–11 years)	Mensink et al. (2007) <sup>(b)</sup>	87–90
	VELS (< 1-4 years)	Kersting and Clausen (2003)	95–110
Ireland	NANS (18–90 years)	IUNA (2011)	86–105
Italy	INRAN-SCAI (1 month-98 years)	Sette et al. (2011)	92–107
Netherlands	DNFCS 2007_2010 (7-69 years)	van Rossum et al. (2011)	89–101
Sweden	Riksmaten 2010_2011	Amcoff et al. (2012)	100–109
UK	NDNS years 1–3 (3–94 years)	Bates et al. (2012) <sup>(d)</sup>	97–108

DIPP: type 1 Diabetes Prediction and Prevention survey; DNFCS: Dutch National Food Consumption Survey; EsKiMo: Ernährungsstudie als KIGGS-Modul; FINDIET: the national dietary survey of Finland; INCA: étude Individuelle Nationale des Consommations Alimentaires; INRAN-SCAI: Istituto Nazionale di Ricerca per gli Alimenti e la Nutrizione - Studio sui Consumi Alimentari in Italia; NANS: National Adult Nutrition Survey; NWSSP: Nutrition and Wellbeing of Secondary School Pupils; VELS: Verzehrsstudie zur Ermittlung der Lebensmittelaufnahme von Säuglingen und Kleinkindern für die Abschätzung eines akuten Toxizitätsrisikos durch Rückstände von Pflanzenschutzmitteln.

(a): Range over different age groups in a specific survey.

(b): For these surveys, published intake values included supplement consumption, while the EFSA estimates are based on food consumption only.

(c): Published values were for two consecutive days of dietary recall, while EFSA data comprised 2  $\times$  48 h dietary recall.

(d): UK-NDNS survey published intake data for 3 years (2008–2010), while EFSA estimates are based on 4 years consumption data (2008–2011).



### Appendix H – Summary of population reference intakes (PRIs) for thiamin for adults expressed in mg/day

Age	PRI at (mg	PAL = 1.4 /day) <sup>(a)</sup>	PRI at (mg	PAL = 1.6 /day) <sup>(a)</sup>	PRI at (mg	PAL = 1.8 /day) <sup>(a)</sup>	PRI at (mg	PAL = 2.0 /day) <sup>(a)</sup>
	Men	Women	Men	Women	Men	Women	Men	Women
18–29 years	0.99	0.80	1.13	0.91	1.27	1.02	1.41	1.13
30–39 years	0.96	0.77	1.09	0.88	1.23	0.99	1.36	1.09
40-49 years	0.94	0.76	1.08	0.87	1.21	0.98	1.35	1.08
50–59 years	0.93	0.76	1.06	0.86	1.20	0.97	1.33	1.08
60–69 years	0.85	0.69	0.97	0.79	1.10	0.89	1.22	0.98
70–79 years	0.84	0.69	0.96	0.78	1.08	0.88	1.20	0.97

PAL: physical activity level. PAL values of 1.4, 1.6, 1.8 and 2.0 reflect low active (sedentary), moderately active, active and very active lifestyles (EFSA NDA Panel, 2013).

(a): The ARs for thiamin in mg/day were calculated from the AR for thiamin of 0.072 mg/MJ using the ARs for energy for adults according to the Scientific Opinion on dietary reference values for energy (EFSA NDA Panel, 2013). The PRIs were then derived assuming a CV of 20%.

### Appendix I – Summary of population reference intakes (PRIs) for thiamin for infants aged 7–11 months expressed in mg/day

Age	PRI (mg/d	lay) <sup>(a)</sup>
	Boys	Girls
7 months	0.27	0.24
8 months	0.28	0.25
9 months	0.29	0.26
10 months	0.30	0.27
11 months	0.31	0.28

(a): The ARs for thiamin in mg/day were calculated from the AR for thiamin of 0.072 mg/MJ using the ARs for energy for infants aged 7–11 months according to the Scientific Opinion on dietary reference values for energy (EFSA NDA Panel, 2013). The PRIs were then derived assuming a CV of 20%.



### Appendix J – Summary of population reference intakes (PRIs) for thiamin for children and adolescents expressed in mg/day

Age	PRI at P (mg/d	AL = 1.4 lay) <sup>(a)</sup>	PRI at P (mg/c	AL = 1.6 lay) <sup>(a)</sup>	PRI at P (mg/d	AL = 1.8 lay) <sup>(a)</sup>	PRI at P (mg/d	AL = 2.0 ay) <sup>(a)</sup>
	Boys	Girls	Boys	Girls	Boys	Girls	Boys	Girls
1 year	0.33	0.30	-	-	-	_	-	_
2 years	0.43	0.40	_	_	-	_	-	_
3 years	0.49	0.46	_	-	-	_	-	-
4 years	0.53	0.49	0.60	0.56	0.69	0.64	-	-
5 years	0.56	0.52	0.65	0.59	0.73	0.68	-	_
6 years	0.59	0.55	0.68	0.64	0.77	0.72	-	_
7 years	0.64	0.58	0.73	0.68	0.82	0.76	_	_
8 years	0.68	0.62	0.77	0.72	0.87	0.80	-	_
9 years	0.71	0.67	0.82	0.76	0.92	0.85	-	_
10 years	_	-	0.82	0.77	0.92	0.87	1.02	0.96
11 years	_	_	0.86	0.81	0.97	0.91	1.08	1.01
12 years	_	_	0.92	0.85	1.03	0.95	1.15	1.06
13 years	_	_	0.99	0.89	1.11	1.00	1.23	1.11
14 years	_	_	1.06	0.92	1.19	1.03	1.32	1.15
15 years	_	_	1.14	0.94	1.28	1.06	1.42	1.18
16 years	_	_	1.20	0.96	1.35	1.07	1.50	1.19
17 years	_	_	1.24	0.96	1.39	1.08	1.55	1.20

PAL: physical activity level. PAL values of 1.4, 1.6, 1.8 and 2.0 reflect low active (sedentary), moderately active, active and very active lifestyles. PAL values were selected from the range of PAL values observed in children and adolescents (EFSA NDA Panel, 2013).

(a): The ARs for thiamin in mg/day were calculated from the AR for thiamin of 0.072 mg/MJ using the AR for energy for children and adolescents according to the Scientific Opinion on dietary reference values for energy (EFSA NDA Panel, 2013). The PRIs were then derived assuming a CV of 20%.

# Appendix K – Summary of population reference intakes (PRIs) for thiamin for pregnant and lactating women (in addition to the PRI for non-pregnant non-lactating women) expressed in mg/day

	PRI <sup>(a)</sup> (mg/day)
Pregnant women	
1st trimester	+ 0.03
2nd trimester	+ 0.11
3rd trimester	+ 0.21
Lactating women	
0–6 months post-partum	+ 0.21

(a): The additional ARs for thiamin in mg/day were calculated from the AR for thiamin of 0.072 mg/MJ using the AR for additional energy for pregnancy or lactation (i.e. in addition to the AR for energy for non-pregnant non-lactating women) according to the Scientific Opinion on dietary reference values for energy (EFSA NDA Panel, 2013). The PRIs were then derived assuming a CV of 20%. These values have to be added to the PRI for non-pregnant non-lactating women.